
 

 

 
MEETING: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
  
DATE: 12 December 2018 
  
TIME: 14:00 
  
VENUE: Town Hall, Bootle 
  
 
 Member 

 
 

 Cllr. Ian Moncur (Chair) 
Cllr. Paul Cummins 
Cllr. John Joseph Kelly 
Dr. Rob Caudwell 
Dwayne Johnson 
Maureen Kelly 
Dr Andrew Mimnagh 
Fiona Taylor 
Steve Warburton 
Angela White 
Andrew Booth 
Lorraine Webb 
Richard Freeman 
 

 

 
 
 COMMITTEE OFFICER: Caitlin Manion Democratic Services Officer 
 Telephone: 0151 934 2070 
 Fax: 0151 934 2034 
 E-mail: caitlin.manion@sefton.gov.uk 
 
 
 

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist. 

 

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2.   Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 

(Pages 5 - 8) 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda. 
 
Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation. 
 
Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 
from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 
the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision. 
  

 

4.   Sefton Local Safeguarding Children`s Board Annual 
Report 2017-18 

(Pages 9 - 90) 

 Report of the Director of Social Care and Health 
  

 

5.   Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan (Pages 91 - 104) 

 Report of the Director of Social Care and Health 
  

 

6.   Clinical Commissioning Group Update  

 Update from Fiona Taylor 
  

 

7.   Better Care Fund - Quarter 2 Return (Pages 105 - 124) 

 Report of the Director of Social Care and Health 
  

 

8.   Adult Forum  

 Verbal update from the Cabinet Member - Adult Social Care 
  

 

9.   Dates for Future Meetings of the Board  

 The Cabinet at its meeting to be held on 6 December, 2018 
will be recommended to agree the following meeting dates of 
the HWBB for the Municipal Year 2019 to 2020:- 

 



 
12 June, 2019 
11 September, 2019 
4 December, 2019 
11 March, 2020 
 
In accordance with the current programme of meetings, the 
next meeting of this Board will be held on Wednesday, 13 
March, 2019 at the Town Hall, Bootle, commencing at 
14:00 
  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON  19 SEPTEMBER 2018

PRESENT: Councillor Moncur (in the Chair)

Councillors Cummins, John Joseph Kelly, 
Maureen Kelly, Fiona Taylor, Angela White and 
Andrew Booth

13. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Matthew Ashton, Diane Blair, 
Dr Rob Caudwell, Richard Freeman, Dwayne Johnson, Dr Andrew 
Mimnagh, Steve Warburton, and Lorraine Webb. 

14. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes from the meeting held on 13 June, 2018 be confirmed as 
a correct record.

15. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

16. SEFTON PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 

The Board considered the report of the Director of Public Health, which 
presented the Sefton Public Health Annual Report 2017/18 which had 
been produced as a short film to explore the emotional wellbeing and 
mental health of children and young people and the services and 
resources which are available to support them. 

The short film highlighted that there are 35,251 children and young people 
aged 5-16 living in Sefton and 1 in 10 would need support or treatment for 
a diagnosable mental health problem. The most common mental health 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 19TH SEPTEMBER, 
2018

2

problems are anxiety, depression, conduct disorder (aggression or 
antisocial behaviour) and ADHD (Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder).  

Two of the four priority areas identified for action by Sefton Young 
Advisors were:

 Help children and young people better understand emotional health; 
and 

 Help to build children and young people’s resilience. 

RESOLVED: That

1) receipt of the Sefton Public Health Annual Report be noted;

2) it be noted that the Sefton Public Health Annual Report has been 
published;

3) the Public Health team be thanked for their informative report; and the 
children and young people of Sefton be thanked for their participation 
in the short film. 

17. REVISED GUIDANCE PUBLISHED: WORKING TOGETHER TO 
SAFEGUARD CHILDREN 2018 

The Board considered the report of the Director of Social Care and Health, 
which explained the new guidance following a government consultation, 
launched in October 2017 which set out the changes needed to support 
the new system of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements established 
by the Children and Social Work Act 2017.

The Department for Education has also published transitional guidance 
and advice on information sharing for people who provide safeguarding 
services to children, young people, parents, and carers. 

The report highlighted:- 

 Key changes in Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018;
 Assessing need and providing help;
 Organisational responsibilities;
 Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements; 
 Safeguarding partners;
 Relevant agencies;
 Schools, colleges and other educational providers;
 Local and national child safeguarding practice reviews;
 Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel; 
 Local safeguarding partners; and 
 Child death reviews

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 19TH SEPTEMBER, 
2018

3

RESOLVED: That

(1) the report be and the new guidance be noted; and

(2) the Director Health and Social Care be requested to report at a future 
date in respect of the plan to transform the Safeguarding Children’s 
Boards.

18. JOINT COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS - UPDATE FOR 
SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY 

The Board considered the report of the Director of Social Care and Health 
that provided the Board with an update on joint commissioning 
arrangements as part of the SEND statement of action. The report 
highlighted:-

 The SEND Inspection;
 The SEND Action Plan;
 Actions to Improve Joint Commissioning Weaknesses; and
 The challenges to be faced in developing the Joint Commissioning 

Strategy. 

RESOLVED: That

(1) the report and its content be noted; 

(2) the Director of Social Care and Health be requested to provide the 
Board with the interim SEND Needs Assessment and the Joint 
Commissioning Strategy for 2018; and 

(3) the Director of Social Care and Health be requested to provide the 
Action Plan at a future date when parents have been consulted.

19. JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT -STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT 

The Board considered the report of the Director of Social Care and Health 
which explained that one of the principal responsibilities of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board was to produce a Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 
(JSNAs): The JSNAs are assessments of the current and future health and 
social care needs of the local population. Boards must consult with the 
local community when producing the JSNA and should take into account a 
broad range of issues, including demographics, the particular needs of 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 19TH SEPTEMBER, 
2018

4

disadvantaged or vulnerable groups and wider social, environmental and 
economic factors which might impact on health and wellbeing. The JSNA 
must be taken into account by local authorities, CCGs and NHS England 
when preparing or revising commissioning plans.

RESOLVED: That

(1) Wayne Leatherbarrow, Performance and Intelligence Manager, be 
thanked for his informative presentation; 

(2) it be noted that Board have received the data sets in respect of the 
population of Sefton; and

(3) it be noted that the Executive Group Health and Wellbeing Board will 
oversee the development of a detailed work programme to prepare for 
a Health and Wellbeing Strategy beyond 2020 and this will be brought 
to a future meeting of the Board.

20. WORKPLAN FOR HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

The Board received a verbal update from Sharon Lomax, Integrated 
Health and Social Care Manager on the Work Plan for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. Ms. Lomax highlighted that the items for the next 
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board would include: 

 Children’s Safeguarding Annual Review;
 Children and Poverty Report;
 Integration and Better Care Fund Update; and 
 an Update from the Care Commissioning Groups

RESOLVED: That

(1) the items for the next meeting of the Board be noted; and 

(2) Sharon Lomax be thanked for her update. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 

 

Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 12 
December 2018 

Subject: Sefton Local Safeguarding Children`s Board Annual Report 
2017-18 

Report of: Director of Social 
Care and Health 

Wards Affected: All wards 

Portfolio: John Joseph Kelly - Cabinet Member - Children, Schools and 
Safeguarding 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No 
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 
 

 
Summary: 
 
Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) shares the Annual Report 2017-18 
with the Health & Wellbeing Board in line with statutory guidance:  
 
“The Chair must publish an annual report on the effectiveness of child safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children in the local area.  The annual report should be 
published in relation to the preceding financial year and should fit with local agencies’ 
planning, commissioning and budget cycles. The report should be submitted to the Chief 
Executive, Leader of the Council, the local police and crime commissioner and the Chair 
of the health and well-being board.  

The report should provide a rigorous and transparent assessment of the performance 
and effectiveness of local services. It should identify areas of weakness, the causes of 
those weaknesses and the action being taken to address them as well as other 
proposals for action.” 
 
Recommendations: 
 

1) Health and Wellbeing Board is required to take account of the content of the 
LSCB Annual Report 2017-18 and respond to areas which require commissioning 
plans to be examined or developed. 

 
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
To comply with statutory guidance and inform commissioning priorities within Sefton. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
None 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
There are no direct financial implications as a result of this LSCB annual report. 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

 

(B) Capital Costs 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
None 

Legal Implications: 
There is statutory guidance to ensure that the Annual Report is shared with the Health 
& Wellbeing Board  

Equality Implications: 
There are no equality implications. 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
The annual report details how vulnerable Children and Young People are protected 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
 

Drivers of change and reform: 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
 

Greater income for social investment:  
 

Cleaner Greener 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5469/18) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD4594/18) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
Immediately following the Committee. 
 

Contact Officer: Deborah Hughes 

Telephone Number: 0151 934 3366 

Email Address: Deborah. Hughes@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
None 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 
 
Background Papers: 
Sefton LSCB Annual Report 2017-18  
 
‘Easy Read’ version  
 
1. Background 
 
Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) shares the Annual Report 2017-18 
with the Health & Wellbeing Board in line with statutory guidance:  
 

“The Chair must publish an annual report on the effectiveness of child safeguarding 
and promoting the welfare of children in the local area.  The annual report should be 
published in relation to the preceding financial year and should fit with local agencies’ 
planning, commissioning and budget cycles. The report should be submitted to the 
Chief Executive, Leader of the Council, the local police and crime commissioner and 
the Chair of the health and well-being board.  

 
The report should provide a rigorous and transparent assessment of the performance and 
effectiveness of local services. It should identify areas of weakness, the causes of those 
weaknesses and the action being taken to address them as well as other proposals for 
action.” 

The safeguarding partnership shares a clear, well understood vision and this is established 
at all levels. The active membership at main board and in sub groups reflects this strength 
and breadth of local commitment. 

 
2. Progress made 
 
There have been some key achievements set against the priorities identified by the 
partnership. 

Early Help: The LSCB has introduced a set of Early help quality standards providing 
clear guidance for the workforce. This has supported Early help services to provide 
timely and effective services as early as possible. The number of families being 
supported through early help continues to rise.  

It is important the health and wellbeing board now consider the governance  intelligence 
to inform future commissioning plans regarding early help services . 

Neglect: A priority has been to improve the identification and response to children living 
in neglectful circumstances. A revised ‘levels of need guidance was launched with 
focused examples of indicators of neglect. Together with increased use of a neglect 
toolkit there has been improvements in identification, timely intervention and improved 
outcomes for children. 

Exploitation: Significant work has been undertaken to ensure all staff and communities 
have increased awareness and procedures to safeguard children from exploitation. 

Robust safeguarding practice will continue and be strengthened as the safeguarding 
arrangements transfer as outlined by the government. There is a commitment to retain 
the strong local partnerships.   

The LSCB has realigned its statutory focus and safely redirected the operational 
responsibilities back to strategic owners and accountable bodies. 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 

4. The safeguarding priorities for this year are:  
 

 To ensure the partnership drives outcome focused practice and improved outcomes 
for children which will be evidenced through single agency and a partnership 
performance.  

 The voice of the child and community is actively gathered and responded to. 

 To continually support and contribute to staff development  

 Safeguarding practice will be stronger when these priorities are actively driven by all 
accountable bodies. This includes all the work   governed and commissioned by the 
health and wellbeing board. 

 
3. Conclusion 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board members are requested to consider the LSCB Annual 
Report to inform local commissioning arrangements for safeguarding children, young people 
and their families. 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



Sefton LSCB Annual Report 2017‑18

SEFTON

L
ocal Safeguarding Child

re
n 

B
oa

rd

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

Contents
Chair’s Foreword .................................................................................................................................................... 1

About the Annual Report .................................................................................................................................. 2
About Sefton ........................................................................................................................................................ 2
About Sefton LSCB .............................................................................................................................................. 3
Child safeguarding related items taken from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) ‑ 
Monitored through the LSCB Partnership .................................................................................................... 11
Looked After Children (LAC) ........................................................................................................................... 14
Statutory responsibilities of the Local Authority Designated Officer (DO) .......................................... 14

Our Current Priorities .......................................................................................................................................... 17

Children reported as missing from home / care ........................................................................................ 30
Looking, listening and learning as a Board................................................................................................. 33
Education, educating themselves. ............................................................................................................... 35
What have our board members done to implement the lessons learned through the LSCB to 
improve outcomes for children and families?............................................................................................ 36
Showcasing good practice – a selection of agency self declarations .................................................. 39
Next years priorities ......................................................................................................................................... 42

Glossary of terms ................................................................................................................................................ 43

Appendix 1............................................................................................................................................................ 44

Sefton local safeguarding children board (lscb) structure...................................................................... 44

Appendix 2............................................................................................................................................................ 45

This year’s activity under the Learning & Improvement Framework (LIF) .......................................... 45

Appendix 3  .......................................................................................................................................................... 46

Learning from Audit Child Criminal Exploitation ....................................................................................... 46

Appendix 4............................................................................................................................................................ 47

Learning from Audit ‑ Safeguarding Disabled Children ........................................................................... 47

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1

Chair’s Foreword
Welcome to the Sefton Local Safeguarding Children 
Board (LSCB) Annual Report for 2017/18

This detailed annual report provides evidence that 
the partnerships in Sefton are continuing in their 
commitment to ensure safeguarding children is at the 
forefront of all their work.  The partnership shares a 
clear, well understood vision and this is established at 
all levels.   The active membership of the main board 
and subgroups reflect this strength and breadth of 
local commitment.

As Chair, I have witnessed partners demonstrating a 
mature relationship with honesty, transparency and 
respectful challenge.  All these ingredients are key to 
robust safeguarding practice and working effectively 
to produce positive outcomes for children.

The LSCB has provided a vehicle to effective 
partnership working and as we transfer to new 
safeguarding arrangements in 2019 each LSCB 
member as a system leader should grasp the 
opportunity under new safeguarding arrangements to 
be innovative in their delivery of services and remain 
steadfast in retaining the experiences of children at 
the heart of all they do.

I wish to highlight the following as some key 
achievements:

To support Early Help services to provide timely 
and effective support to children and help as early 
as possible, the LSCB has introduced a set of Early 
Help quality standards providing clear guidance 
for the workforce.  The number of families being 
supported through Early Help continues to rise. 
There is a well‑established multi agency practitioner 
forum.  This provides an opportunity to hear feedback 
from audits highlighting good practice and areas for 
improvement.

 A priority has been the identification and response 
to children living in neglectful circumstances.  To 
support the partnership the LSCB launched new 
guidance in relation to levels of need with focussed 
examples of indicators of neglect. In addition, there 
has been a Neglect toolkit implemented to support 
practice identification.  This has resulted in improved 
identification, timely interventions and improved 
outcomes for the children.

Significant work has been undertaken to ensure all 
staff and communities have increased awareness and 

clear procedures to safeguard children from sexual 
exploitation and those who are being criminally 
exploited by organised crime groups.

Sefton is well placed to transfer to new safeguarding 
arrangements as required by the government.  I am 
confident we will continue to build and sustain a 
strong safeguarding culture and arrangements, where 
the focus is firmly on the experience of the child or 
young person and their journey to getting effective 
help and protection.

I hope this report provides you with sufficient 
information to evidence that professionals   in 
Sefton and the wider community are alert to the 
issues of safeguarding and they make a positive 
difference to the lives of the children, young people 
and families .

The focus for the coming year will be to retain and 
continually improve the high standards of Sefton’s 
safeguarding arrangements whist ensuring we retain 
the strong local partnerships based on a shared clear 
vision.

I wish to record special thanks to the LSCB Business 
Manager Deborah Hughes and LSCB Business Support 
Officer Donna Atkinson.  They have discharged their 
roles and responsibilities to a very high standard 
and have made a significant contribution to 
collaborative working and the emerging culture 
of continual improvement and learning for the 
partnership in Sefton.

My final thanks go to the operational staff across 
all the agencies and services for their hard work, 
dedication and motivation during a year of reduced 
resources and increased demands.

Paula St Aubyn, Sefton LSCB (Independent Chair)

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2

About the Annual Report
This annual report outlines safeguarding activity and 
performance in Sefton between April 2017 and March 
2018 and illustrates how we, as a partnership, and 
individual agencies, have progressed and continue 
to strive to improve the lives of our children and 
young people.

The annual report is a transparent assessment of the 
effectiveness of safeguarding and the promotion of 
children’s well‑being across Sefton. We publish this 
report alongside a young people’s version to make 
sure our work is communicated as easily and widely 
as possible.

About Sefton
Sefton is one of six Local Authorities that makes up 
the Liverpool City Region and has a population of 
274,589, approximately a fifth are aged 0‑19.  Sefton 
is a metropolitan borough of Merseyside, England 
and its local authority is Sefton Council. The borough 
is a coastal strip which stretches from the port of 
Liverpool in the South which borders North Liverpool, 
to the seaside town of Southport in the North which 
borders Lancashire. Sefton is in the most deprived 
quarter of English Local Authorities. The Borough 
consists of a coastal strip of land on the Irish Sea, 
and extends from the primarily industrial area of 
Bootle in the south to the traditional seaside resort of 
Southport in the north. In the south‑east, it extends 
inland to Maghull. Sefton has an approximate area 
of some 155km2. Sefton shares its boundary with 
Liverpool, Knowsley and West Lancashire.

Of the school age children attending a Sefton school 
/ college 8% have an ethnicity other than White 
British, with 4% being of Black & Asian Minority Ethnic 
Group Heritage.

11% of children on Child Protection (CP) 
plans and 9% of Children in Need (CiN) have 
ethnicity other than White British, with 7% 
of CP and 4% of CiN being of Black & Asian 
Minority Ethnic Group Heritage.

According to Census 2011, just 1,072 of residents 
aged between 0 to 15 years old residing in Sefton 
were born outside of the UK, with 35% of these being 
born in European countries who joined the Union after 
2001 (these include, Bulgaria Cyprus, Czech Republic, 
Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, 
Slovakia, Bulgaria, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia)

In total, there are approximately 6,132 children living 
in workless households in Sefton, approximately 
12% of 0‑16‑year‑old residents.  Approximately one 
in five children live in low income families.  Nearly 
three quarters of all low‑income families are also a 
lone parent family which is higher than the nationally 
where a third of all low‑income families are also a 
lone parent family.  There is a high concentration 
of low income families in the South of the Borough 
particularly around the area of Bootle.

Liverpool

Bootle

Knowsley

St Helens

Wirral

Crosby

Formby

Southport

Maghull

River 
Mersey

Sefton 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3

If the 57,456 children aged 0‑17 in 2017 were represented by just 100 children then 51 of them would be boys, 
49 would be girls. If there were 100 children then:

About Sefton LSCB
Sefton LSCB exists to co‑ordinate and ensure the 
effectiveness of what is done locally to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children and young people. 
It is a statutory body established under the Children 
Act 2004.  It is independently chaired as required by 
statute and consists of senior representatives of all 
the main agencies who work together to safeguard 
our children and young people. Underpinning all of the 
work of the Board, is the drive and determination to 
safeguard our children and young people built around 
the Boards’ vision and value base.

LSCB membership, attendance  
and appraisal
The LSCB has benefitted from strong attendance from 
the key agencies at the main board meetings. As 
can be seen from the board membership list, Sefton 
LSCB warmly extends its invitation for membership 
to statutory services, commissioning services as 
well as the providers of those services. This results 
in a richer set of experiences that the board benefits 
from to better improve safeguarding achievements. 
This meeting takes place bi‑monthly which totals six 
meetings in the year. In addition to this, all board 
members, including the Chair, have been individually 
appraised which identified key themes:

Aged 0‑4

Aged 5‑11

100

Aged 12‑15

27
40

21
11

4 39 26
4

21
4

7.6

5.2
2.2

1.2

1

1.1

6.5

0.7

0.3

Aged 16‑17

Maintained 
Primary Maintained 

Secondary

Secondary pupils 
absent for 10% of 
school year

Children in 
low‑income 
families

Black & Asian 
Minority Ethnic 
Group Heritage

Children in 
Need during 
the year

Assessed by 
Children's 
Social Care

Domestic 
Violence an 
Issue in 
Assessment

Children Looked 
After during the 
year

Children 
with Child 
Protection 
Plan during 
the year

Early Help 
episodes 
completed where 
failed to engage 
family

Early Help 
episodes 
completed ‑ all 
outcomes

Children 
Missing 
During the 
Year

Contact 
triggered by 
CSE concern

Child Protection & Early 
Intervention & Prevention

Demographics & Education

Commissioning Support & Business Intelligence Service
Data, Insight, Business Intelligence, & Performance

Maintained 
Nursery

7 Special 
Educational 
Needs or 
Disabilities

3
Primary pupils 
absent for 10% 
of school year

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

1. Hearing from practice more – members were 
keen to keep abreast of practice examples that 
illustrate partnership working. 
Commitment – the Board will receive short 
presentations at Main Board on practice learning 
reviews. To achieve this, Board members are 
encouraged to offer good practice examples

2. LSCB Audit activity – 100% support from all 
appraised members that the audit schedule 
implemented by the Board is a necessary quality 
assurance activity. There was also a want 
expressed for an increase in focus on assurances 
from the partnership in relation to single agency 
audit activity that can be shared with the Board 
to illustrate improvement of practice. Members 
also requested a greater collective focus on being 
better ‘outcome focussed’ for children and young 
people through evidence of partnership impact. 
Commitment – the Board will agree the next set 
of audits for 2018/19 that is now accepted as 
custom and practice for the LSCB

3. Understanding Sub Group activity – this was 
highlighted as an area that members would like 
to hear more about in recognition of the work and 
impact that these sub groups have on improving 
partnership performance 
Commitment – we will ensure that by exception, 
any risks or achievements identified will be 
highlighted in more detail to the Main Board.

4. Complex Health Landscape – there was an 
acknowledgement by board members that the 
complexity of the health economy infrastructure 
can be a disadvantage for members not from this 
discipline to fully contribute to the health agenda. 
There remains lack of clarity around which arm 
of health delivers specific services within our 
communities to our families. These arrangements 
will be illustrated to the board through a health 

presentation on ‘the journey of a family’

5. Providers on the Board – evidenced in the 
conversations with members, there was a 
unanimous desire and commitment for providers 
to remain seated around the strategic table for 
safeguarding. It is important to note that there 
was an overwhelming commitment to continue 
under the new arrangements

6. Independent Chairing – the scrutiny, challenge 
and support provided by a chair who is 
independent of all services was strongly felt 
to be the most beneficial approach. It was 
important for members that they feel having an 
independent chair provides a level playing field 
which supports all contributions equally.

7. Responsiveness of Board staff – members 
recognised the active and robust contribution of 
the LSCB staff team of 4. Individual queries are 
efficiently addressed, work is well co‑ordinated, 
and they play a crucial role in driving change and 
maintaining a culture of improvement.

We discovered through 
this activity....
This valuable exercise has highlighted the breadth of 
work that the partnership is doing within their host 
agencies that contribute to the safeguarding agenda. 
Conversations illuminated innovative practice in 
working directly with children and young people and 
demonstrates a collective want to focus on impact 
and outcomes for the betterment of our community.  
In the spirit of active sharing, there will be an 
increased commitment to invite partners to showcase 
their achievements in dedicated slots on the main 
board agenda.

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5

Sefton LSCB Membership and Attendance at Main Board Meetings

April 2017 – March 2018
Agency Representative Attendance
Sefton LSCB Independent Chair 6/6
Sefton Local Authority
Sefton MBC Director of Children & Adult Services 6/6
Sefton MBC Head of Children’s Social Care 6/6
Sefton MBC Service Manager (Safeguarding Children) 6/6
Public Health Public Health Consultant 6/6
Sefton MBC Head of Schools & Families 5/6
Sefton MBC Localities Manager 5/6
Health Organisations
NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS  
Southport & Formby CCG (CCGs)

Named GP 0/6

NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS  
Southport & Formby CCG (CCGs)

Designated Nurse/s 6/6

NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS  
Southport & Formby CCG (CCGs)

Chief Nurse and Quality Officer 6/6

NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS  
Southport & Formby CCG (CCGs)

Designated Doctor 3/6

North West Borough Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust

Assistant Clinical Director 6/6

Southport & Ormskirk NHS Trust Assistant Director (Safeguarding) 6/6
Mersey Care NHS Trust Deputy Director of Nursing & Quality 5/6
NHS England Deputy Director of Nursing 3/6

Alder Hey NHS Children’s Foundation Trust
Assistant Director (Safeguarding) 
Member since October 2017

3/6

Liverpool Women’s & Aintree NHS Hospitals Head of Safeguarding 3/6

Education
Secondary Headteacher Headteacher 5/6
Primary Headteacher Headteacher 4/6
Criminal Justice
Merseyside Community Rehabilitation Company Assistant Chief Executive Liverpool & Sefton 4/6
National Probation Trust Assistant Director 6/6
Merseyside Police Area Commander 5/6
Voluntary Organisations
Sefton CVS Deputy Chief Executive 6/6

Sefton Women & Children’s Aid (SWACA) Chief Executive 6/6

Others
Lay Member (1) Independent 6/6
Lay Member (2) Independent 5/6
CAFCASS Service Manager 3/6

Sefton Elected Member
Lead Member for Children’s Services  
(Participating Observer)

3/6

One Vision Housing Director of Supply Services 5/6

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service
Strategic Safeguarding Manager  
Member Since March 2018

1/6

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  6

The LSCB Chair and Business Manager have met with the 
Named GP in relation to Main Board meeting attendance 
and have sought understanding of non‑attendance. 
Particular to this role, the Named GP for Sefton is 
employed for 3 sessions per week which equates to 
1.5 days. Given the GP’s clinical commitments this has 
not allowed for attendance at the LSCB main board 
meetings. Whilst this is acknowledged the LSCB has 
received assurances from the GP that this blockage 
does not impact on the GP’s other active safeguarding 
responsibilities and the clear governance structures in 
place for communication and action.

In addition to the main board meeting, the executive 
board also meets bi‑monthly. This structure of meetings 
allows for the board to more efficiently undertake its 
work. A lot of the work completed by the partnership can 
be discussed in more detail at the executive board and 
progressed without the need for it to be always placed 
on the agenda for the main board. In turn, this allows 
the main board members the capacity to concentrate 
their efforts on the most strategic elements of the 
boards business when they meet.

The work of the LSCB is largely undertaken through the 
sub/task and finish group structure which is supported 
by the LSCB business team. It is through the diligent 
work of staff from all partner agencies within these work 
groups of the LSCB that best illustrates the dedication 
and commitment to supporting the safeguarding 
agenda and making progress to respond to the needs 
of our younger generation. The activity within these 
sub groups is integral to the success of the board in 
achieving its outcomes as attendees within these 
groups are closer to frontline service delivery so bring an 
added layer of understanding around current practice 
operations. A brief explanation of each sub group can be 
found with the LSCB structure (Appendix 1).

The Chairs of the sub groups are members of the 
executive/main board which, by design, ensures that the 
sub groups are up to date on the current thinking and 
direction of the board in terms of its activities and plans 
and ensures clear lines of communication between sub 
groups, executive group and main board.

Where does the LSCB get its 
resources from?
All LSCB member organisations have an obligation to 
provide LSCB’s with reliable resources, which includes 
financial contribution, which will enable the LSCB to 
be well organised and effective. The partnership has 
continued to provide services ‘in kind’ such as staff 
time and free venues for some training events.

In principle, the financial responsibility should be 
equally shared so as not to disproportionately burden 
one or more partner agency. For Sefton, Children’s 
Social Care has contributed the majority share of 
the budget.

Income for 2017‑18 £
Local Authority 
(Sefton Council)

 107,010

Southport & Formby/South 
Sefton CCGs

 30,000

Merseyside Police 21,000
CAFCASS 550
National Probation Service 1,500
North West Boroughs Health 3,000
Merseyside CRC 1,442
Other income for Training 2,125

Sefton 
Educational Establishments

49,035

Total Income 2017‑18 215,662

Expenditure LSCB 2017‑18 £

Staff salaries 161,218
Professionals fees (inc. 
Independent Chair & 
External Consultants/
services)

27,000

Training & Development 15,805
Marketing & Public Relations 600
Facilities Hire 1,332
Commissioned Services 10,480
Miscellaneous 8,110
Total Expenditure 224,545

LSCB Budget 2017‑18 
Summary

£

Total Income 215,622
Amount brought forward 
from 2016/17

20,804

Total Expenditure 224,545
Balance to carry forward 
2018/19

11,921

Please note that an underspend from the previous 
financial year was carried forward and has ensured 
that the overall running costs of the Board were met 
at year end.

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  7

Priority areas of expenditure 
2018‑2019

 ■ Serious Case Reviews and Multi Agency 
Reflective Reviews

 ■ Working Together revisions on all policies 
and procedures

 ■ Re‑branding for the new local safeguarding 
arrangements as well as a launch event

What does the LSCB do with 
these resources?
The activity of the board is wide ranging and includes 
ensuring policies and guidance in place for frontline 
staff to understand their roles and responsibilities, 
supporting the training offer to the partnership, 
sharing learning including good practice, to 
undertaking a Serious Case Review (SCR) when a child 
is seriously harmed and abuse was a factor.

The Board works alongside other strategic 
partnerships in the borough that each has different 
responsibilities for the same population of people. 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is responsible 
for producing a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA). The work of the LSCB informs the JSNA. This 
JSNA helps a number of agencies to work together 
to improve the health and wellbeing of people in 
Sefton and reduce any health inequalities. Below 
are examples of factual information that is received 
about Sefton that will be considered by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

The health and wellbeing of children in Sefton remains 
worse than the England average. There have been 
slight improvements in key areas such as smoking at 
time of delivery, teenage conceptions and admissions 
to hospital due to alcohol and injuries. However, 
partners recognise the need for concerted efforts to 
work on public health interventions that can improve 
child health. In the last year partners have:

 ■ Developed a healthy weight pathway to 
support practitioners across NHS, local 
authority and voluntary services to 
support children and families to achieve a 
healthy weight

 ■ Identified barriers to immunisation 
amongst looked after children and 
actively promoted immunisation with 
young people and carers

 ■ Relaunched breastfeeding peer support 
and are now working towards UNICEF 
Baby Friendly accreditation in 2018/19

 ■ Re‑specified and commissioned a 
young people and families’ substance 
misuse service to provide a whole family 
approach to early intervention and 
behaviour change,

 ■ Agreed to support Public Health England’s 
national ‘starting well’ programme 
which encourages dental practices to see 
very young children for checks and advice 
before the age of 2

Seven percent of babies in Sefton have a low birth 
weight (under 5,500g) and 1% have a very low 
birth weight (under 1,000g). The percentage of low 
birth weight babies is higher in the most deprived 
areas of Sefton.

Sefton’s infant mortality rate 
(deaths in infants under 1) is 4.2 per 1,000 
live births, similar to the North West and 
England averages.

1 in 8 pregnant women in Sefton are recorded as 
smoking at the time of delivery. This compares to 
1 in 9 for England as a whole.

It is estimated that 30% of children in Sefton have 
one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth.

58% of Sefton mothers breastfeed their babies in 
the first 48 hours after delivery. At 6 to 8 weeks 
after birth this drops to 30% of babies being fully 
or partially breastfed. This is significantly lower 
than national breastfeeding rates where 75% 
of mothers initiate breastfeeding and 44% are 
breastfeeding at 6 to 8 weeks.

Childhood immunisation rates are above 90% in 
Sefton.  Dtap/IPV/Hib vaccination coverage in 2 
year olds is significantly better for Sefton than 
England as a whole.

Approximately 21 girls aged under 18 conceive for 
every 1,000 women aged 15‑17 years in Sefton. 
This is the lowest teenage pregnancy rate in the 
Liverpool City Region. Over half (57%) of teenage 
conceptions in Sefton lead to an abortion.

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  8

Key roles and relationships
To steer this work, the board has an Independent Chair, 
and a dedicated team consisting of a business manager, 
learning and development officer and an administration 
officer. We are also in the process of increasing the 
team to include a learning and improvement officer. 
The Independent Chair of Sefton LSCB is Paula St Aubyn 
who is tasked with ensuring the Board fulfils its statutory 
objectives and functions. Key to this is the facilitation 
of a working culture of transparency, challenge and 
improvement across all partners with regards to their 
safeguarding arrangements.

The Chair is accountable to the Chief Executive of Sefton 
Council. The Director of Children’s Services and Lead 
Member also continues to work closely with the Chair on 
related safeguarding challenges.

Whilst being unable to direct organisations, Sefton LSCB 
does have the power to influence and hold agencies 
to account for their role in safeguarding. This influence 
can touch on matters relating to governance as well 
as impact directly on the welfare of children and 
young people.

Partner Agencies across Sefton are committed to 
ensuring the effective operation of Sefton LSCB. This 
is supported by the LSCB Governance Handbook that 
defines the fundamental principles through which 
Sefton LSCB is managed.  Members of the Board hold a 
strategic role within their organisations and are able to 
speak with authority, commit to matters of policy and 
hold their organisation to account.

Whilst Children’s Social Care (CSC) are 
the lead agency in protecting children we 
recognise we can’t achieve this on our own. 
Families need a partnership approach and 
the LSCB provides opportunity for support 
and challenge, ensuring we get it right for 
children and safeguard them at the earliest 
opportunity.
Sefton’s Head of Children’s Social Care

Partnerships are not just about having a 
common goal, it’s about ‘how’ we achieve 
that goal. Sefton LSCB operate in an open and 
tolerant way, whilst providing appropriate 
challenge. There is a clear focus on outcomes 
and demonstrating effectiveness and that’s 
what has made the difference in the NPS. 
Shared ideas, trust and an environment 
that encourages engagement. My staff have 
benefited from training and a willingness to 
understand each other’s ‘business’ and I can 
only see our building on that impact on the 
frontline, where it matters! 
National Probation Service ‑  
Head of Liverpool and Sefton

 
Our involvement in the LSCB plays a crucial 
role in enabling us to support the several 
hundred organisations, their staff and 
volunteers in trying to ensure that Children 
and Young People are kept safe and are able 
to thrive.
The work of the LSCB ensures that we are 
able to share and promote best practice 
and alert the workforce to any emerging 
issues such as the internet or criminal 
exploitation and to place them in the context 
of the Borough.
The structures assist in the building of better 
understanding of the issues facing different 
partners and facilitate joint work.
The focus on the voice of the child is 
particularly welcome and fits with much 
of the work we are particularly passionate 
about.
Deputy Chief Executive Council for 
Voluntary Service

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  9

Designated Professionals
The Designated Doctor and Nurse take a strategic and 
professional lead on all aspects of the health service 
contribution to safeguarding children. Designated pro-
fessionals are a vital source of professional advice for 
health‑related issues and CDOP arrangements. Across 
the range of Sefton LSCB activities, these designat-
ed roles have continued to demonstrate their value 
and active contribution to the business of the Board 
during 2017/18.

Sefton LSCB is one of the three main 
Safeguarding Children’s Boards that Liverpool 
Women’s NHS Foundation Trust and Aintree 
University Hospital’s work with.
The Boards are a statutory body 
established under the Children Act (2004) 
and in accordance with statute are 
chaired independently.
The Boards exist to co‑ordinate and ensure 
the effectiveness of the local population’s 
ability to safeguard and promote of welfare 
of children and young people. All Boards 
consist of senior representatives of all 
the main agencies who work together to 
safeguard our children and young people and 
although Liverpool Women’s NHS Foundation 
Trust and Aintree attend the sub‑groups to 
the other two Boards, Sefton is the only main 
Board that as provider organisations, we 
have membership on.
From a provider perspective that enables 
strong leadership and a full understanding 
of Sefton Boards vision and value’s. It also 
allows for strong, cohesive partnership 
working with key agencies. Our ability to have 
a voice in such an important forum, enables 
key learning and understanding of the 
priorities, ensuring this can be disseminated 
throughout our organisations.
Sefton Board is very pro‑active in terms of 
strengthening working relationships with 
partner agencies across the area which 
as a provider highlights their drive and 
determination to safeguard our children and 
young people.”
Associate Director of Nursing and Midwifery 
for Safeguarding

Lay Members
As a statutory requirement LSCBs should have lay 
member representation, and we have two very active 
lay members. Both members are Sefton residents and 
bring a different perspective for the board to consider 
in decision making, as the community considerations 
and impact are their main consideration.

Our lay members say:

Over the last year we ha ve noticed an 
improvement in our meetings, where the 
same people are regularly attending, and 
are thereby developing and maintaining 
relationships.  We believe that trust between 
agencies is improving.  Our independent chair 
is excellent at bringing all attendees into 
the meetings and ensuring full participation, 
which also enables better working 
relationships to develop.

In addition to main board representation, they are 
both active on the LSCB sub groups and work tasks 
that evolve from these working groups. The lay 
member who sits on the Practice Review Panel and the 
Child Death Overview Panel says:

I consider my role is to listen to submissions, 
and to offer my thoughts, which may come 
from a different view point. I try to ensure 
that any information that will be shared 
with parents is written jargon‑free and in a 
language that is understandable to most 
people.  I am also prepared to ask the 
questions that might appear to have simple 
answers.  Sometimes the response surprises 
more than just myself.

Communicating what we do with 
other Boards and Associations
Whilst the LSCB has robust arrangements in place 
that directly influences and improves performance 
in the care and protection of children, it is the LSCB’s 
relationship with other strategic bodies that further 
improves and supports achievement.

It is widely recognised that working in isolation is 
unhelpful to improving outcomes for children. To this 
end, the LSCB has remained committed to sharing, 
receiving and contributing to multi agency work 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 0

which includes areas of focus on community safety, 
vulnerable adults and health and well‑being to ensure 
that the voice of the child is heard.

A Memorandum of Understanding sets out the formal 
relationship across these forums to ensure clarity of 
strategic alignment, management of risk and avenues 
of communication. This document was improved and 
refreshed in 2017.

This document goes beyond the expectation of formal 
reporting of business and has agreed positional roles 
for individuals to report to and from the boards that 
they sit on. This is to ensure that issues pertinent 
for the LSCB to be aware of, and vice versa, are 
communicated in a way that can provide the context 
of discussion and reasoning for any outcomes.

Our Memorandum of Understanding details the 
LSCB’s relationship with the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, the Corporate Parenting Board, the 
Combined Adults Safeguarding Board, and the Safer 
Communities Partnership.

Established members of the LSCB from Primary and 
Secondary schools is strong on the board and we 
benefit from both a Primary and Secondary Head 
Teacher membership. Actively, they ensure that 
their respective Associations are kept up to date on 
LSCB business, any changes that are happening and 
any additional contribution required to strengthen 
partnership working. On both the Sefton Association 
of Primary Heads (SAPH) and the Sefton Association 
of Secondary Heads (SASH) safeguarding is a fixed 
agenda item. Conversely, the schools have a clear 
pathway through their representatives to raise any 
issues or concerns they have or foresee, regarding 
safeguarding in the education environment direct to 
the board.

In addition, the LSCB has welcomed opportunities to 
communicate with elected members through their 
oversight and scrutiny forums.

For the past year the Business Managers of the 5 (Pan 
Merseyside) LSCB’s have been working in collaboration 
to improve the consistency of business approaches 
through our Boards where appropriate to do so. This 
group has been successful in achieving agreements of 
approach to a whole host of activity that is bringing 
about a strengthened layer of support and collective 
action. To date, we have concentrated our efforts on:

 ■ Section 11 systems and approaches

 ■ Pan Merseyside dataset

 ■ Policy and Procedures

 ■ Serious Case Reviews

 ■ Workforce Training and Development

How Are We Performing?
Evaluating the child’s journey 
through the safeguarding system

Contacts, Referrals and 
Assessments

50 Referral to Early Help (325)

31 Progress to Referral (202)

Progress to34
No Further Action14
Existing Case2

Child Protection4%
Child in Need9
Child Looked After2

Stepped Down (20)3

No Further Action / Refer to
Other Agency / Other (79)12

Information & Advice, Other, 
No Further Action (7)

Signposted, Adoption, Leaving Care,
Other, No Further Action (78)

1

650 Contacts Received each Month

Assessment30

7

12

Information & Advice (45)

NB: Figures are averages taken over 12 months and percentages 
are rounded. 

Data is indicative of scale and proportionality only. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 1

Child safeguarding related items taken from the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) ‑ Monitored through the LSCB Partnership

2 Year Old Funded Early Education Higher is better
3 and 4 Year Old Free Early Education Higher is better

Pupils Attaining a ‘Good Development’ 
in Early Years Foundation Service 

Higher is better

All School Absences Lower is better
Unauthorised Sessions Missed Lower is better

Persistent Absences Lower is better
Permanent Exclusions Lower is better
Fixed Term Exclusions Lower is better

Pupils with Statement of Special Educational Needs 
or Education Health Care Plan 

‑

Family Homelessness Lower is better
Homeless Young People (16‑24) Lower is better

School Aged Pupils with Learning Disabilities ‑
Children in Need Rate per 100,000 Lower is better

Children Looked After (ClA) Rate per 100,000 Lower is better
Children Subject of a Child Protection Plan Rate Lower is better

Referrals to Children’s Social Services Rate Lower is better
Children Looked After‑ Missing Incident During the Year Lower is better

First Time Entrants to Youth Justice Sys (10 ‑ 17) Lower is better

Vulnerable People receiving a 
custodial sentence in court

Lower is better

Hospital Admissions ‑ Mental Health Conditions .. Lower is better

Hospital Admissions ‑ Self‑Harm (10‑24) Lower is better

Breastfeeding Initiation Higher is better

Hospital Admissions for Self Harm (All Ages) Lower is better

Smoking at Time of Delivery Lower is better

Dental Health ‑ 5 year olds Higher is better

Immunisations ‑ MMR at 2 Years Higher is better

16‑17 Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) Lower is better

Child poverty Lower is better

Interpretation: For all sections these graphs show the 
relative position of Sefton (l) compared to other Local 
Authorities in England. The lime green bar represents 
all local authorities for the specific metric. The black 
vertical bar (|) represents the average for England 
and the fuchsia circle represents the value for Sefton 
(l) . For all lines low values are to the left, high to 
the right of the black line.

Comparators Note:

For the following indicators the most current Sefton data 
(17/18) has been compared to the most recent National 
Data which in most cases was 16/17 rather than 17/18 

Pupils Attaining a ‘Good Development’ in EYFS (this is 
2017/18 for England too but is subject to change)

All School Absences 
Unauthorised Sessions Missed 
Children in Need Rate per 100,000
Children Looked After (CLA) Rate per 100,000
Children Subject of a Child Protection Plan Rate
Referrals to Children’s Social Services Rate
CLA ‑ Missing Incident During the Year

{The LSCB sub‑groups 
monitor these measures 
to ensure focus is on areas 
of weakness which can 
be addressed to drive up 
improvement.}

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 2

Child Protection Plans (CPP) at 31 March 2018
Of the 310 CPP started, a total of 27% of the children became subject of CP Plan within 12 months of them being 
taken off a previous CP Plan, an increase of 6% on the rate reported last year. 31% had been subject of a CP plan 
within the previous 15 months, a 7% reduction on the rate reported last year.

The chart below indicates, of the 84 children,  
how many times each child had previously been 
subject of a CP Plan.

Number 
of children

%

1 previous CP Plan 71 85%
2 previous CP Plans 13 15%
3 previous CP Plans 0 0%

Of the 84 children, the Category of the most recent 
previous CP Plan was as follows.

Previous CP 
Plan Category

Number of children

Emotional 38
Neglect 19
Sexual 7
Physical 20

The predominant theme for children being subject of repeat child protection plans continues to be due to 
parents misusing alcohol and drugs and their children experiencing domestic violence within the family home 
i.e. ‘The Toxic Trio’, underlying neglect and sustainable change.

Other emerging themes relate to children becoming subject to repeat child protection plans when they have 
previously been looked after under Section 20 arrangements, and returning home to situations where the risk 
remains which subsequently led to them becoming subject of a Child Protection Plan.

(applied to closed plans only in 2017‑18)

Duration of CP Plans at the 
1st April 2018 of all the children 
whose Child Protection Plans had 
ceased in the year.

6.72%

22.27%

6.72%

36.13% 28.15%

Plan Duration
■ under 3 months  53
■ 3 to <6 months  67
■ 6 months to 1 year  86
■ 1 year to < 15 months  16
■ 15 months to <2 years  16

    TOTAL 236

Category of CP Plans  
(for closed plans only)

2.94%

8.4%

0.42%

28.99% 59.24%

Plan Category (DfE)
■ Emotional  141
■ Neglect  69
■ Sexual  20
■ Multiple  1

  TOTAL 238

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 3

Child / Young Person Age

3.36% 7.56%

30.25% 28.15%

30.67%

■ Under 1 18
■ 1‑4 67 
■ 5‑9 73
■ 10‑15 72
■ 16+ 8

  TOTAL  238

Age band

Child / Young Person Ethnicity

3.78% 0.84%
0.42%1.68%

1.68% 28.15%

89.92%

■ White ‑ British 214
■ White ‑ Any other White background 9
■ Any other ethnic group 4
■ Mixed ‑ Any other mixed background 4
■ Asian/Asian British ‑ Indian 2
■ Mixed ‑ White and Asian 2
■ Mixed ‑ White and Black Caribbean 2
■ Black/Black British ‑ African 1

  TOTAL 238

Disability by Category ‑ 3.4% of all CP Plans are 
recorded as the child having some form of disability.

Following regular receipt of data in relation to children 
on Child Protection Plans, the LSCB were concerned 
about the high volume of these, in particular the 
rate of the re‑plans. As a result, the LSCB agreed to 
commission an independent review of the underlying 
issues and operational practice and this commenced 
in November 2017 and was completed in February 
2018. The approach from the independent author of 
the review was to:

Establish an analysis that triangulates with data, best 
practice and practitioners experience that provide 
explanation of the CP Plan rate by examining;

 ■ Comparison of conference Signs of 
Safety (SoS) scoring when de‑planned 
and re‑planned i.e. understanding the 
partnerships decision making rationale;

 ■ Application of Levels of Need‑thresholds;

 ■ Application of procedures & 
processes; and

 ■ Pressure points in the system.

Some of the key findings from this review resulted in 
recommendations that focused on

 ■ smart data collation,

 ■ consider the best resources and 
programmes that compliment 
Sefton practice

 ■ identify best practice in relation to 
scrutiny functioning

 ■ Review information sharing protocols

 ■ Review and consider practice in respect 
of how we take children and families 
through a child protection process in an 
engaging way

 ■ Increase agencies contributions to 
safeguarding practice

From this, and the associated recommendations, 
there is an action plan owned by members that will 
be worked through. Assurance of achievements in 
respect of this piece of work will then be given to the 
LSCB in the coming year.

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 4

Looked After Children (LAC)
There has been an increase in the number of children 
Looked After in Sefton. This is comparably lower than 
the North West region. On 31st March 2018 Sefton 
had 486 looked after children compared to 445 in the 
same time period as the previous year. Of these 10% 
of children have experienced 3 or more placement 
moves, predominantly concerning older children 
who have complex issues including CSE and Missing. 
Positively the number of children placed at home on 
full care orders has reduced by 3% and this continues 
to be an area of focus.

There continues to be challenges in relation to 
placement sufficiency for looked after children and 
this is a national issue. Children’s Social Care (CSC) 
are working hard with colleagues in commissioning to 
work with the local provider market to ensure when 
safe and appropriate, Sefton children remain in Sefton. 
CSC are looking at how they can enhance their offer to 
inhouse foster carers so that they are able to care for 
some of our older and more complex young people.

There has been a focus on Initial Health Assessments 
for Looked After Children in partnership with 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and provider 
colleagues, which has led to an increase of 18.6% 
of IHA’s completed.  This will remain a focus for the 
coming 12 months in relation to all health checks.

There has been an increase in the number of children 
adopted during the year to 13 children, with a further 
15 children placed for adoption, this improvement 
in performance was acknowledged in a letter from 
the minister.

CSC have developed and published their local offer 
for care leavers. 91.2% of our care leavers are living 
in suitable accommodation which is comparable to 
last year’s figure of 92.7%, (custody is not deemed as 
suitable accommodation), positively there have been 
no care leavers in emergency accommodation e.g.  
bed and breakfast, and 9% increase in care leavers 
who are in Education, Employment or training.

Reason ceased being looked after
Adopted 13

Residence order 4
Special guardianship (former foster carer) 19

Returned to live with parents 30
Independent living 15
Transferred to Adult care 6
Other reasons 76

163

Statutory responsibilities of 
the Local Authority Designated 
Officer (DO)
The statutory requirement for local authorities to 
have a Designated Officer (DO) to be involved in the 
management and oversight of allegations made 
against adults working with children, is contained 
within Section 11 of the Children Act 2004. Allegations 
made in Educational Settings are covered in Keeping 
Children Safe in Education 2016, revised 2018. It is the 
DO’s role to maintain an overview of all allegations 
and provide advice and guidance to organizations. The 
DO will also liaise with social care, police and other 
agencies and monitor the progress of cases to ensure 
that they are dealt with as quickly as possible, and are 
consistent with a thorough and fair process.

Whilst the role of the Designated Officer is part of 
the safeguarding process, Sefton’s DO ensures that 
the workforce is safeguarded as well. This is done by 
raising staff awareness of what types of behaviour can 
lead to an allegation being made and ensuring that 
lessons learned and best practice are shared with the 
wider force.

During 2017 – 2018 reporting period there were 164 
DO referrals which met the criteria. This is a decrease 
of 15 from the previous reporting period of 179.

There were a further 47 contacts made to the DO, 
which did not meet the above DO threshold. This is a 
decrease of 10 contacts from the last reporting period. 
Of these contacts:

 ■ 18 were referred to the employing 
organisation for them to deal within their 
own internal processes. These related 
to inappropriate handling or use of 
inappropriate language

 ■ 12 were information only

 ■ 17 were recorded as threshold not 
met, no further action or out of 
borough allegations

2013/ 
2014

2014/ 
2015

2015/ 
2016

2016/ 
2017

2017/ 
2018

DO referrals 94 136 156 179 164
DO contacts 40 76 60 57 47

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 5

Referring Agencies

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

30.25%

30.67%

■ Early Years / Child Care 13
■ Education 12 
■ Education LA 24
■ Health 6
■ Local Government 11
■ Ofsted 0
■ Other 7
■ Police 8
■ Private Provider 19 
■ Services for Young People 3
■ Social Care 58
■ VCF  3

In this reporting period of the 164 referrals, 133 
allegations were referred to the DO within the required 
time frame of 24 hours. This is an improvement to 
the figures from the last reporting period, when only 
67% were complying with the statutory 24 hours. This 
figure still needs to improve to comply with statutory 
requirements. Ongoing training and awareness 
raising sessions delivered by the DO highlights 
the importance of the statutory requirement to 
refer within 24 hrs, to ensure that safeguarding is 
addressed and evidence is not contaminated or lost 
and informed decisions are made. Agencies are also  
challenged by the DO at the time of referring.

Employment Sector of Perpetrator

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

30.25%

30.67%

■ Early Years / Child Care 19
■ Education LA 35 
■ Education Non LA 15
■ Foster Carer LA 9
■ Foster Carer non LA 4
■ Health 10
■ Other Social Care 7
■ Police 0
■ Private 2
■ Residential Worker LA 0
■ Residential Worker  30
■ Self Employed 3 
■ Transport 6
■ VCF  9
■ Other  15

It should be remembered that the referring agency may 
not be referring their own staff, and so the figures show 
how allegations against staff come in from sources other 
than the employer, and which sector of the work force they 
originate from.

It is to be expected that there will be a considerable number 
of allegations made against staff working in education 
settings. There was a reduction of 17 referrals from 
education, from 67 in the previous reporting period to 50 in 
this reporting period.

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 6

Outcome of all referrals to 
Designated Officer

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

30.25%

■ Threshold not met 32
■ Out of Borough 2 
■ False 18
■ Ongoing 24
■ Unsubstantiated 15
■ Unfounded 40
■ Substantiated 27
■ Malicious 6

Definitions:
 ■ Substantiated – A substantiated allegation is one which is 

supported or established by evidence or proof;

 ■ Unsubstantiated – An unsubstantiated allegation is not 
the same as a false allegation. It simply means that there 
is insufficient identifiable evidence to prove or disprove 
the allegation. The term, therefore, does not imply guilt 
or innocence;

 ■ Unfounded – This indicates that the person making the 
allegation misinterpreted the incident or was mistaken 
about what they saw. Alternatively, they may not have 
been aware of all the circumstances. For an allegation to 
be classified as unfounded, it will be necessary to have 
evidence to disprove the allegation;

 ■ Malicious – This implies a deliberate intention to deceive. 
A malicious allegation may be made by a child following 
an altercation with a member of staff or a parent who is 
in dispute with the organisation.  For an allegation to be 
classified as malicious, it will be necessary to have evidence 
which proves this intention.

 ■ False ‑ This applies to education only. For an allegation to 
be recorded as false there has to be sufficient evidence to 
disprove the allegation.

 ■ Ongoing – Cases not concluded remain ongoing.

Timescale of employers’ investigation and 
DO outcome

0

20

40

60

80

100

30.25%

■ Ongoing 24
■ More than 12 months 0 
■ Less than 12 months 22
■ Fewer than 90 days 37
■ Fewer than 30 days 81

Whilst the number of allegations completed with 1 month have 
risen, there is still some way to go to improve these figures. 
The number of ongoing referrals has almost halved in this 
reporting period.

Page 30

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 7

Our Current Priorities
1.   Ensure Early Help services are effective
So what have we done?  Early help is about getting 
additional, timely and effective support to children, 
young people and their families, to help them as 
early as possible before issues become more serious. 
Over the past year there has been an improved 
understanding of the role and support required from 
agencies in providing children and families with 
early help.

The number of families being supported through early 
help continues to rise. In 2017/2018 3,573 early help 
episodes were started which is an increase compared 
to 3,174 in 2016/17. There has been a decrease 
in episode closure due to non‑engagement with 
families. In 2017/18 this was 17% compared to 26% 
in 2016/17.

The Early Help offer is supported by the Early Help 
Gateway Triage Team whose aim is to swiftly allocate 
families who require early help support. This provides 
timely referrals to early help and identification of the 
best service to meet the needs of the child/young 
person and their family.

There is some drift from the point of allocation in 
relation to the timeliness of assessments being 
undertaken. More work is required to understand 
and overcome the barriers and challenges faced by 
partners to lead Early Help Plans with families.  This 
will be an area of focus for the coming year.

The Early Help sub‑group have been supporting 
partners to develop their own contribution to Early 
Help requiring additional support. This has involved 
briefing sessions to raise awareness of what Early 
Help is with the partnership and has included the 
encouragement for agencies to take the lead on the 
multi‑agency Early Help Assessment and undertake 
the Lead Practitioner role when appropriate.

To be assured that Early Help services are accessed 
and delivered effectively and levels of needs are 
understood and consistently applied, there have been 
a number of audits that have been requested through 
the Performance and Quality Assurance group to 
keep a check on distance travelled.  The recent audit 
carried out at the request of the performance and 
quality assurance group looked at contacts that 
had stepped across from MASH to Early Help in the 
month of November 2017 and found that while there 
is some evidence of positive impact on children and 
families when assessments had been completed 

by professionals there is more work required in 
completing assessments in a shorter timescale.  This 
will be an area of focus for the coming year.

A set of Early Help Assessment Quality Standards, 
providing clear guidance for the workforce have been 
developed to support the improvement of practice in 
relation to the quality of assessments and planning 
for families.  Sefton has revised the early help 
assessment documentation and adopted a whole 
family approach, aligned with the national troubled 
families programme to achieve more significant and 
sustainable change.

There is a well‑established multi agency lead 
practitioner forum.  This network provides a forum 
for information exchange peer support, and feedback 
from audits illustrating areas of good practice, areas 
for development or areas of concern in relation to the 
way in which agencies are working together.

During 2017/2018 the multi‑agency ‘assess, plan and 
review’ training programme has continued.

The Early Help module (EHM) of the electronic 
recording system ‘Liquid Logic’ has improved 
information sharing between early help and social 
care. The system has been simplified and aligned with 
the new early help assessment and plan.  More work 
needs to be undertaken with schools as they have 
requested some class room based learning in relation 
to the system.

The effectiveness of the early help offer will be 
measured in part using the Maturity Model.   Regular 
reviews of this action plan through the sub‑group 
will show how the early help offer is progressing and 
demonstrate how mature we are as a partnership.

Alder Hey Hospital for Children

The process of “Early Help” within the 
trust now has a heightened profile and 
engagement across teams and at executive 
level. There are numerous examples of 
professionals within Alder Hey contributing 
to the early help agenda but a particular 
area of focus has been in relation to 
discharge planning, particularly for the 
cohort of children with complex health 
needs.  Having a specialist team focusing on 
complex discharge, which includes a Nurse 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 8

Social Work post, has had a positive effect 
on the “Early Help” process. Families are 
now identified much sooner in the patient 
journey and the necessary help and support 
is accessed internally and externally across 
multidisciplinary colleagues/professionals 
to ensure both the care they receive during 
their child’s stay in hospital and the care 
and support they receive in their home 
environment is safe, timely and consistently 
high quality. The trust recognise that there 
are still many more improvements that can 
be implemented to enhance the efficiency 
and effectiveness of trust processes and 
pathways of care, as well as those attributed 
to our partner agencies, for our most 
vulnerable children and families. One of 
the key challenges for the trust is collating 
evidence to support the vast array of work 
undertaken within the early help agenda; 
however we are collaborating closely with 
our IT colleagues to improve data collection 
processes and this will be an area of focus for 
improvement for the coming year.” 
Assistant Director of Safeguarding – 
Alder Hey

From a Police position in relation to their contribution 
to early help it is of note that in this reporting period, 
the Police have been a key partner in the setting up 
of the Child Criminal Exploitation pathway for Sefton.  
A dedicated team of officers working closely with 
other agencies to formulate a reporting pathway with 
a risk assessing framework to identify the level of 
threat, risk and harm for young people on the edge 
of criminality. Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
has evolved to scrutinise the information provided 
and use the risk assessment tool to signpost the 
most vulnerable children to the Multi Agency Child 
Exploitation panel to coordinate a response.   This has 
resulted in some families being moved out of the area 
to stabilize the family environment and divert from 
criminality.  Extensive multi‑agency training has been 
conducted by police and children’s social care both 
internally and to the wider voluntary partnerships.  
The initial stages to implement the Early Help Hubs 
has commenced, with recruitment of four Police 
Community Support Officers (PCSO’s) who will take 
on this role.   These staff will be given appropriate 
training and will have the opportunity to learn from 
the other four established Early Help hubs.  These 
staff will be embedded in the South locality hub in 
September 2018.

Engagement of commissioned health services within 

the Early Help agenda is overseen and monitored 
through Safeguarding KPI’s which are reviewed by 
the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) Designated 
Nurse Safeguarding Service.

Specific Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) include:

 ■ Number of Early Help Assessment Tool 
(EHAT) initiated by a health professional

 ■ Number of CAFs/EHAT led by a 
health professional

 ■ Number of referrals to Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) 
for under 18 years old due to self harm 
related issues / attempted suicide

 ■ Number of referrals to services for 
under 18 year olds with a drug / alcohol 
related issue

Number of new referrals to Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference (MARAC)

The Chief Nurses for Liverpool and Sefton’s CCGs 
are Chair and Vice Chair of the joint LSCB/SAB 
(Safeguarding Adult Board) Health Sub Group.

The sub group’s work plan includes updates from all  
member health organisations of Sefton LSCB in line 
with specific Early Help standards, including:

 ■ Engagement in the Early Help Task and 
Finish Group

 ■ Ensure staff are trained within Early Help

 ■ Ensure organisational policies reflect the 
Early Help offer.

The Designated Nurse is a member of Sefton LSCBs 
Performance & Quality Assurance sub group where 
data in respect of the Early Help agenda is received 
and scrutinised. The CCG contributes to this dataset 
on a quarterly basis to support evidencing the 
effectiveness of Early Help services.

The LSCB Early Help Sub‑Group members have been 
extremely active in their contribution to improving the 
wider partnerships approach to early help promotion 
and access.  The Local Authority has been in the 
process of a huge structural change to a locality 
model which in itself, should compliment early help 
and prevention outcomes for children and families.   
In open acknowledgement that evidencing impact 
and outcomes for children and families has not been 
as forthcoming as was hoped in the previous year, the 
sub‑group re‑visited their action plan.  Now, there is 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  1 9

a one page action plan that clearly cascades through 
simple illustration how the LSCBs strategic aims and 
priorities can be evidence in outcomes.  This has 
now resulted in submissions of evidence from single 
agencies to support a portfolio of good pratice and 
positive impact not only with children and family but 
also in terms of service responses to infrastructure 
revision.  Not exclusive to this sub‑group membership, 
members need to continue to develop their skill set in 
evidencing outcomes which has yet to mature to the 
optimum level.

The Performance & Quality Assurance Group has 
supported the work of Early Help and provided 
appropriate scrutiny and challenge. In June 2017 
a challenge session was held which looked at Early 
Help in some detail in terms of contacts and referrals 
and how quickly families receive an Early Help offer. 
In March 2017 an audit was undertaken by the MASH 
and Early Help Lead to understand further the impact 
of Early Help and application of Levels of Needs. 
Recommended actions need to be taken forward to 
ensure that children and families receive the right 
help at the right time and there is no drift in plans. 
This will continue to be monitored through PQA 
and has been discussed at the Early Help Sub Group 
Development Day to inform review of the Early Help 
Strategy and Action Plan.

As a consequence of this activity, the subgroup saw 
a timely opportunity to review how the LSCB needs 
to change to a) reflect these developments and b) 
maximising opportunities for stronger integration 
across the partnership in line with new arrangements.  
To this end, early help sub‑group will be reviewing 
their strategy and launching this to the workforce 
along with a refreshed action plan that concentrates 
more on evidencing impact and outcomes for our 
children and young people.

In addition, all LSCB audits undertaken throughout 
the year do consider the impact of the Early Help offer 
made available and taken up by individual families.

The S175 re: Education Settings has been undertaken 
and reviewed Education Settings involvement in 
offering Early Help to children and their families.

Examples of change from previous 12 months:

 ■ North West Boroughs Health NHS Foundation 
Trust took responsibility for delivering the 
0‑19 service on the 1st April 2017. The 
service model places an emphasis on early 
interventions targeting high impact areas as 
per the healthy Child Programme: transition 

to parenthood, maternal mental health, 
breastfeeding, healthy weight, managing 
minor illness and injury prevention, healthy 
2 year olds. Over the last 12 months, the roll 
out of antenatal visits by health visitors has 
provided an opportunity to discuss protective 
factors such as breastfeeding, safe sleeping 
and encouragement to stop smoking. These 
early interventions help to reduce the risk of 
infant death.

 ■ Case study presentations have also 
highlighted the benefit of early assessment 
of both mother and father mental wellbeing. 
Health visitors can now show how listening 
visits and appropriate referral to other 
agencies has protected the wellbeing of 
parents and baby.

 ■ A new young people and families 
substance misuse service was 
commissioned this year.  The new service, 
Addaction, identified obstacles in the 
referral process from Sefton MASH. The 
service is working with the MASH Team 
and Early Help to identify information 
sharing policies, consent forms that 
comply with the arrival of GDPR and a 
clear pathway for accessing substance use 
support. They have significantly increased 
numbers in treatment and are working 
with other commissioned services such as 
Sexual Health and 0 – 19 Service to ensure 
consistency in offer to partners in schools 
and other education settings.

Moving forward, in September 2018, as part of the 
boards restructure agreement, the early help agenda 
will be managed under the Local Authority and as 
such the board will end the task and finish group. 
However, the LSCB will still be seeking assurance of 
progress in relation to early help and it is anticipated 
that the membership of that group will remain 
steadfast in their commitment to work better together 
in partnership.

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 0

2.  Ensure the identification of neglect is robust and children living 
in neglectful circumstances are identified and safeguarded

So what have we done?  Neglect is a Local 
Safeguarding Board Strategic Priority, this was 
prompted by Sefton’s lower than national and 
regional average rates of Neglect on a CP plan and 
children in need with a category of abuse and or 
neglect coupled with worse than average rates of 
children in care, child poverty and attainment of 
children on free school meals. Sefton has a Neglect 
Strategy in place which is led by the Local Authority 
and supported by the multi‑agency partnership

Sefton LSCB established a neglect task and finish 
group to oversee the implementation and monitor the 
effectiveness of the Neglect Strategy including the 
Neglect Strategy Action Plan.

Police remain the highest reporter of Neglect into 
the MASH.  The use of bodycam footage by attending 
officers at incidents has been key to prosecutions of 
neglect in some cases.  Officers have been receiving 
further training on the completion of the EVPFR (police 
referral form) and how to reflect the voice of the child.  
Merseyside Police has identified that the recording on 
force systems of when a Public Protection Order (PPO) 
has been issued is not consistent and not searchable 
for management data.  This is to be rectified with the 
implementation of the Tri‑Force Niche agreement 
(computer system between Cheshire, North Wales and 
Merseyside) This will benefit partner agencies so we 
can provide a more accurate data set on the use and 
reasons why.

There is increased understanding of neglect and 
overall there is an increase in children subject to Child 
Protection with neglect. The graded care profile is an 
effective tool when used but is not used consistently 
across Children’s Social Care and the partnership. 
The Local Government Association (LGA) recent peer 
review noted a stronger focus on neglect which is 
leading to older children with more complex needs 
coming into care. However professional optimism 
within Children’s Social Care (CSC) and across the 
partnership remains a challenge in ensuring effective 
and timely interventions.

The LSCB / SAB Health Sub Group’s work plan features 
neglect as a priority area and includes updates from 
all  member health organisations of Sefton LSCB in 
line with specific Neglect standards, including:

 ■ All provider organisations to assign role of 
organisational lead for neglect.

 ■ Review the training that is offered within 
the organisation to ensure that it matches 
to expectations with the multi‑agency 
neglect strategy. Any exception must be 
identified within an action‑plan.

 ■ Make any necessary amendments to the 
organisational training strategy in respect 
of neglect in line with the Intercollegiate 
Document 2014.

 ■ Ensure that there are data collection 
processes in place to record the number 
of staff who have accessed training on 
neglect and Graded Care Profile.

 ■ Provider organisation to audit referrals for 
Neglect and the use of the Graded Care 
Profile to support these referrals.

 ■ Assign role of organisational lead for 
substance misuse and mental health 
issues within safeguarding.

 ■ Ensure that appropriate assessment 
pathways are in place that include 
consideration of parenting capacity and 
impact on the child.

 ■ Review pathways for transitional phase 
adolescents to adult services for mental 
health and substance misuse cases 
including a review of records and onward 
referral to adult services as required.

Page 34

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 1

The low referral rates by health agencies in respect 
of neglect (& domestic abuse) were raised at the 
health sub group including specific MASH referral data 
to support this. This has been explored in respect of 
referral data and need to clearly include in referral 
narrative where neglect is a factor.

LSCB data set has subsequently highlighted an 
increase in the number of referrals from ‘health’ 
in respect of neglect that have progressed 
to assessment.

Findings from the LSCB ‘neglect’ challenge session 
were shared with the health sub group and included 
updates on key LSCB documents, tools and briefings. 
Commissioned services have ensured that this 
agenda is included within internal Safeguarding 
Assurance Groups.

Sefton has worked in partnership with the NSPCC 
to trial the Graded Care Profile 2 (GPC 2) and this is 
presently the recognised tool which practitioners 
working in Early Help are trained in across the 
partnership to help them better assess circumstances 
where neglect is thought to be present within a 
family.  At year end 2017‑18 Sefton has 2 licensed 
trainers and had trained 133 professionals across 
the partnership in use of the GCP2 tool.  In addition, 
79 individuals have been on the Neglect Awareness 
training delivered by Sefton Council. Training is 
on‑going and by end of 2017‑2018 245 individuals in 
total have been trained including health professionals 
in use of the tool in order to have a wider workforce 
supporting the Neglect Strategy.  The NSPCC 
who own the tool have been very impressed with 
Sefton’s implementation plan to train and utilise 
this tool to identify and reduce neglect. Following 
our submission of the number of profiles completed 
they are equally impressed by the initial outcomes 
of the plan and Sefton have been selected as one 
of the areas that exemplify good practice by the 
NSPCC in their promotional material related to the 

graded care profile.  The Effective Practice Lead is 
responsible in monitoring the delivery of its use, the 
quality of assessments undertaken and the impact 
and measurability of this both to the LSCB and to the 
NSPCC, this will be supported via LSCB multiagency 
practice audits across Children’s Social Care, 
Turnaround Families and Early Help.

Sefton LSCB has also implemented the Neglect Toolkit 
which has been launched for anyone to use who is not 
a licensed user of the GP2, so far over 50 schools have 
attended training on how to use this.

As a board, we recognise that child neglect is the 
most common form of child abuse but it isn’t always 
easy to identify. To support the partnership, the 
LSCB launched new guidance in relation to ‘Levels of 
Need’. Through consultation with the partnership we 
designed a guidance document that better examples 
indicators of neglect to support practice identification.

In addition to graded care profile, through the LSCB 
training needs analysis conducted in 2018 coupled 
with learning from national serious case reviews, 
Sefton LSCB identified training needs related to the 
Toxic Trio.  The training was developed by Professor 
Jan Horwath and was based on research from 
both Local and National information.  The training 
encompasses how the issues the Toxic Trio can impact 
on parenting. It focusses on how these issues impact 
on children and young people with emphasis on the 
‘Child’s Lived Experience’. This training largely looks at 
the ‘Neglect’ factors and the ‘Risk’ factors that exist 
and co‑exist, within families and the implications 
therein. The LSCB invested in commissioning a train 
the trainer approach to 20 practitioners from the LSCB 
Learning and Development Training Pool to sustain 
planned future roll out.  To date, 107 staff from across 
the partnership have completed the training.  This 
training continues on a rolling programme and is part 
of the Neglect Strategy.

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 2

Furthermore, the LSCB has strengthened 
communication channels to the partnership which 
has specifically promoted the issue of Neglect within 
a refreshed bi‑monthly newsletter, a 7 minute briefing 
and provision of useful research shared across the 
partnership and specifically to the neglect sub group.

As part of arrangements to monitor multi‑agency 
response to neglect, the Performance and Quality 
Assurance Sub Group has reviewed the LSCB 
quarterly dataset to include performance indicators 
related specifically to neglect.  In addition to 
this, multi‑agency quality audit process has been 
improved and the quality audit tool has been 
specifically designed to always consider whether 
neglect is present and evaluate the effectiveness 
of the partnership response to this identified risk.  
Further to this a specific neglect themed audit has 
been scheduled for 2017‑18.  The learning will be 
shared across the partnership as part of the LSCB’s 
multiagency audit feedback sessions and will inform 
the Learning and Improvement Framework as well the 
training offer.

In Sefton, two thirds of adults and a third of year 6 
children are overweight or obese. Both the neglect 
subgroup and Practice Review panel have noted the 
existence of obesity alongside other poor health 
and social wellbeing outcomes in children who have 
identified neglect or other safeguarding risks. Public 
health agreed to provide a summary of services 
and interventions available to support children and 
families achieve and maintain a healthy weight. The 
summary also provided a review of current guidance 
relating to overweight and safeguarding practice.

Briefly, the paper found that childhood obesity alone 
is not a safeguarding concern, nor is failure to control 
weight. The causes of overweight are many and 
complex. Also, as a partnership it is important to 
acknowledge that many of us whatever the age, find 
it difficult to maintain a healthy weight.

However, consistent failure to change lifestyle and 
engage with outside support may indicate neglect, 
particularly in younger children. It has been suggested 
that it becomes a safeguarding issue when parents/
carers behave in a way that actively promotes 

treatment failure in a child seriously at risk from 
obesity. This requires early and consistent intervention 
by all practitioners working with the family. And as 
obesity may be part of wider concerns about neglect, 
It is essential to investigate other aspects of a 
child’s wellbeing.

Subsequent discussion amongst agencies highlighted 
a lack of confidence and knowledge to tackle this 
issue.  Through reflection and sharing concerns 
about our practice across the partnership we have 
recognised the need for training and support for 
front line staff.  In response Public health has 
commissioned Food Active to develop a programme 
that will help staff to have conversations about 
weight, nutrition and health and wellbeing with 
children and families. The work will include 
consultation with staff, young people and families 
that will help to provide training that will include:

 ■ Support around motivational interviewing

 ■ Strategies for behaviour change

 ■ Self‑efficacy – that is developing  an 
individual’s conviction and confidence and 
encouraging them to say what they are 
going to do

 ■ Information re healthy weight pathways 
for help and advice

This work will be delivered in the next year, but has 
evolved from learning from a number of partners 
across the LSCB over this last year. There is a strong 
thread from learning and reflection from case 
review to identifying a training need and responsive 
commissioning and co‑collaboration to deliver 
bespoke high quality training.

The CCG has promoted the terminology of ‘was not 
brought’ as opposed to Did not Attend to support 
consideration of neglect as a factor when children 
miss scheduled health appointments. This was 
included in the GP Safeguarding training event in 
July 2017

Public health champions a population approach to 
deliver the earliest possible help to address neglect 

Page 36

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 3

and so also drew partner’s attention to the fact that 
obesity and overweight amongst children is at a rate 
that requires societal changes to promote healthier 
nutrition and increased rates in physical activity. LSCB 
partners across local government, NHS, and 3rd sector 
have been asked to support the implementation of 
the Sefton Healthy Weight Declaration.

Quality commissioning requires insight into the 
opportunities and challenges faced by provider 
organisations. Public Health staff has undertaken 
Graded care training so that they can effectively 
support the 0‑19 public health nursing provider to 
respond appropriately and consistently to neglect.

As a result of the LSCB Neglect Strategy and 
implementation of the tool Neglect is more 
recognised amongst professionals working with 
families in Sefton:

Graded Care Profile 2 Staff 
Training Update.
Since 2016 we have trained we have trained 245 
individuals in the GCP2 tool with more scheduled for 
the coming year.

In addition to this 79 individuals have been on the 
Neglect Awareness training run by Sefton Council in 
2017‑18.

The Designated Doctor for Children in Care and his 
colleagues organised a Children in Care Conference 
‑ ‘Recognising and Responding to the Health Needs 
of this vulnerable group of children and young 
people. This year’s conference focused on the ever 
changing and complex health needs of Children 
in Care. The event was aimed at Professionals 
who have responsibilities and specialist interests 
in managing and understanding the physical and 
emotional wellbeing of Children in Care.  It had a 
key focus on understanding the impact of neglect 
and the implementation of the graded care profile.  
The importance of Initial Health and Adoption 
assessments and an opportunity to gain valuable 
insight into the risks of Female Genital Mutilation 
(FGM) especially in relation to unaccompanied asylum 
seeking children (UASC).

In summary, the LSCB has been proactive in 
its approach to identifying and co‑ordinating 
a multi‑agency response to neglect.  The LSCB 
triangulates evidence through quality assurance 
processes, data performance monitoring and 
learning and development activity to assure itself 

of partnerships effectiveness in its timely response 
to neglect. Monitoring arrangements are via the 
LSCB Neglect task and finish group who report to the 
Executive Board.  The LSCB remains committed to 
improving the outcomes of children, young people 
and families who experience neglect.

Neglect remains a priority for the Board and whilst 
there has been some sustained improvements in 
better identification of neglect it remains a challenge. 
Child Protection Plans under the category for neglect 
were at 30% on 31st March 2018, which demonstrates 
increased focus on neglect from previous bi‑annual 
Safeguarding Unit reports, but this cohort data is still 
not in line with statistical neighbours at around 50%.

In December 2017, a challenge session was held 
looking at the use of Graded Care Profile 2 across 
the partnership, which helps to evidence the impact 
and scale of neglect. A number of actions were 
identified as a result of this though it is too early to 
evidence impact.

Additionally, all Audits undertaken throughout the 
year have  considered the impact of Neglect on 
individual families.

Page 37

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 4

3.  The prioritising of vulnerable groups, ensuring children are 
protected and risk is managed appropriately

So what have we done?  Over the last 6 months 
Sefton have led a piece of work across Merseyside, 
involving Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton, Knowsley & 
Wirral Local Authorities, Merseyside Police, Catch 
22 (commissioned by the Merseyside Police Crime 
Commissioner) and the NSPCC, to develop a PAN 
Merseyside Child Exploitation Procedure to safeguard 
children from sexual exploitation which now also 
includes child who have been criminally exploited by 
Organised Crime Groups (OCG).

The new PAN Merseyside Child Exploitation Protocol 
includes a revised Child Exploitation Referral Form, 
which agencies used to refer all children at risk of 
Sexual and /or Criminal Exploitation to each area’s 
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hubs (MASHs). A Child 
Exploitation Multi Agency Assessment Tool has also 
been included, which is used across Merseyside during 
Child Exploitation Strategy Meeting’s and the Multi 
Agency Child Exploitation Panel (MACE) Meetings, to 
assess how agencies can safeguard the child whilst 
also identifying, disrupting and prosecuting offenders 
who have abused and exploited the children.  The 
PAN Merseyside Missing Children Protocol has also 
been updated.  Each of the 5 Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards have approved the Protocols. Both 
Protocols are available via Sefton Local Safeguarding 
Board Website.

The Protocols were launched at two PAN Merseyside 
Child Exploitation Launch Events on 1st May 2017 at 
Everton Football Club, opened by Sefton Council’s Chief 
Executive and Merseyside Police Crime Commissioner. 
397 Senior Leaders from across Merseyside attended 
the event and provided very positive feedback.

In line with the new PAN Merseyside Protocols Sefton’s 
Child Sexual Exploitation Partnership Pathway has 
been updated. In January 2018, Sefton’s previous 
Multi Agency Child Sexual Exploitation Multi Agency 
Panel and CARMAC (Sefton’s previous Multi Agency 
Panel which discussed children at risk of Criminal 

Exploitation) were integrated, to become one MACE 
Panel (Multi Agency Child Exploitation Panel).

Since January 2018 agencies have been using the 
new PAN Merseyside Child Exploitation 1 Referral 
Form, to refer any concerns that a child is at risk of, 
or a victim of, sexual and/or criminal exploitation to 
Sefton’s MASH.

The PQA scrutinises agency data in relation to 
safeguarding priorities and uses this to inform 
partnership audits;

In 2017/18 Audits have been completed in relation to:

 ■ Safeguarding from Criminal Exploitation 
by Organised Crime Groups.

 ■ Safeguarding Children with Disabilities.

In addition there has been a strong focus on 
responding to the findings in relation to the domestic 
abuse audit carried out in 2016/17.

The data also leads to enquiries where more 
explanation may be needed and increased partner 
understanding around an issue which has led to the 
challenge sessions as described above.

This helps to provide assurance that the partnership 
is working collaboratively to ensure that vulnerable 
groups are prioritised and safeguarded.

The PQA also monitors the number of Private 
Fostering notifications in the LSCB Dataset, the rate 
of which remains low, and will also receive annual 
reports including the Private Fostering Annual Report.

Public health takes a population approach to 
improving and protecting health, but key to this is 
addressing inequalities and protecting vulnerable 
groups. Over the last year we have delivered a number 
of work streams targeted at some of our more 
vulnerable children, they include:

Page 38

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 5

Teenage pregnancy

Sefton and Knowsley Public Health Teams in 
collaboration with Public Health England hosted 
a multi‑agency focus group event on Teenage 
Pregnancy. In comparison to other parts of 
Merseyside, Sefton’s overall rates of teenage 
pregnancy are low as detailed below. However, there 
is considerable variation within Sefton and those 
levels of variation need to be better understood so 
that an effective response can be formed.

The aim of this event was to share examples of good 
practice, identify potential gaps and variation in 
performance, and to inform the development of new 
Teenage Pregnancy Plans for Sefton and Knowsley 
Local Authorities.

A total of 75 delegates attended the event, 24 
delegates represented services and professional 
interest groups in Sefton.

There were 94 conceptions to under 18s in Sefton 
during 2016, a rate of 20.9 per 1,000 females aged 
15 – 17. The rate in Sefton is the lowest in Merseyside 
and not significantly different to England (18.8) or the 
North West (22.3)

Teenage Conception (under 18) 
Rates per 1,000 women aged 15‑17. 
Annual Rates

10

20

30

40

50

60

■ England
■ North West 
■ Sefton LA

Despite low rates for Sefton as a whole, there is a wide 
variation in the rate of teenage conceptions within 
the borough. Teenage pregnancy rates are typically 
higher in the south of Sefton, although Dukes Ward 

in Southport, which for 2012 – 2014 had the second 
highest under 18 conception rate at 39.9, has in 2013 
– 2015 a rate of 22.7. Linacre Ward (39.1) has had the 
highest rate of teenage conceptions since 2007 ‑2009.

Under 18 conceptions per 1,000 
females aged 15‑17 by Ward 
(2013 15)

0
0
0

2.5
4.6

10.0
10.6

17.1
18.6

20.4
21.5

22.7
25.2

25.2
27.3

30.00
31.3

31.6
33.0
33.4

34.6
39.1

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Blundellsands

Ravenmeols

Molyneux

Meols

Birkdale

Ainsdale

Church

Norwood

Kew

Ford

St Oswald

Discussions on the key issues relating to teenage 
sexual health led to the following partnership actions.

 ■ Development of Relationships and Sex 
Education (RSE) in Schools – a working 
group of representatives from Sefton 
Sexual Health Service, Sefton Head of 
Children and Families Service, Sefton 
0 – 19 Service, Public Health and Sefton 
Youth Cabinet met to plan an approach 
to supporting the delivery of a schools 
programme ahead of the introduction of 
mandatory RSE in September 2019.

 ■ Work with the Sexual Health Service 
to better understand the gaps around 
second unintended pregnancy – Public 
Health and Sexual Health Partners will 
be reviewing the effectiveness of the 
contraception offer post termination.

 ■ Improved ward level data and better 
understanding of the effects of 
inequality – particularly education, 
in relation to teenage pregnancy 
– discussion between Sexual Health 
Partners, Schools and Families, Business 
Intelligence and Public Health to identify 
data gaps and data analysis.

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 6

What are the next steps?
Feedback from the teenage pregnancy event, 
including the recommendations outlined above 
will now be used in conjunction with Public Health 
England planning guidance to develop a local teenage 
pregnancy plan. On‑going monitoring will help to 
gauge the impact of interventions and measure 
progress in further reductions in local under 18 
conception rates.

Substance misuse
Public Health successfully completed the 
commissioning of a new Young People and Family 
Substance Misuse Service in Sefton.  The contract 
was awarded to Addaction. Addaction has delivered 
‘Breaking the Cycle’ (BtC) in Sefton for a number of 
years.  BtC works with families to break the cycle of 
intergenerational substance misuse.

Addaction is a leading substance misuse and mental 
health charity, delivering a number of young people’s 
services across the UK under the banner of Young 
Addaction. The new Sefton Service is known as 
Addaction STARS.

0‑19 Service
As agreed with Public Health commissioners, North 
west Boroughs launched the new enhanced service. 
The Sefton Enhanced 0‑19 Children’s Team is an 
enhanced model of public health nursing with an 
emphasis on early intervention. The service is divided 
in to three key areas:

 ■ Pre‑school

 ■ School age

 ■ Emotional health and wellbeing.

The pre‑school service offers an early intervention 
visiting programme to young mums; 19 and under who 
are pregnant with their first baby and mums over 19 
pregnant with their first baby who have an identified 
vulnerability. Vulnerabilities include:  removal of 
previous child, learning disability, significant mental 
health issue, substance misuse.

The visiting schedule is developed individually however 
the core offer will be up to 5 ante natal visits, weekly 
visits from birth for 4 weeks, fortnightly until 8 weeks, 
monthly until 12 months and bi‑monthly until 2 years.

For school aged children and young people the service 
is offered to children and young people who are 
referred to the pupil referral unit for emotional and 
behavioural difficulties, children and young people who 
are receiving elective home education including the 
Gypsy/Traveller population, children and young people 
without a school place and who have additional needs 

and identified young people aged 16‑19 years who are 
not in education, employment or training and have not 
attended a school or college in Sefton.

The emotional health and wellbeing Service within 
the Enhanced 0‑19 Children’s Team is provided 
to children, young people and families to provide 
emotional, mental health and behaviour advice 
and support and intervention. Key features of the 
service are early identification, early assessment and 
early intervention.

The Specialist Nurse for emotional health and 
wellbeing provides a service that is accessible and 
adaptable to meet a child or young person’s needs. 
Completion of interventions will result in discharge 
from the specialist nurse directly back to the named 
school nurse, or the named school nurse will be 
notified of any onward referrals. The specialist Nurse 
also provides training and consultation to the school 
nurses, and members of the Enhanced Team.

In respect of children with disabilities, Alder Hey 
Hospital’s Learning Disability Nurses are concerned 
with influencing behaviors and lifestyles to enable a 
vulnerable group of people to achieve optimum health 
and to live in an inclusive society as equal citizens, 
where rights are respected. Learning Disability nurses 
have the knowledge, skills, attitudes and abilities to 
work in partnership with people of all ages who have 
learning disabilities, their families and their carers, 
to help individuals to develop individually and fulfil 
their potential in all aspects of their lives irrespective 
of their disabilities. They work closely with a range 
of other disciplines in a variety of residential, day 
and outreach service settings, adapting the level of 
support they provide according to complex needs’.

Special indicators are applied to children who are 
known to have an LD/ASC condition as they come 
through the hospital‑ new GDP screen in development 
to support access to reasonable adjustments

This group of children and their families are offered: ‑

 ■ Risk assessment and reasonable adjustments 
as required

 ■ Access to a full time acute liaison team from 
Jan 18

 ■ CDOP policy adapted to support referral to LDER if 
required (Learning from Deaths Review for children 
over 4)

 ■ Service available to all children and families 
regardless of area

 ■ LD/ASC steering group – families, staff, voluntary 
sector representation

Page 40

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 7

During 2017/18, SWACA (Sefton Women and Children’s Aid) has provided practical and emotional support to 
women and children / young people in Sefton experiencing, or having experienced, domestic abuse.  Domestic 
abuse, as one of the ‘toxic trio’ issues, is well recognised by Sefton’s LSCB as a primary contributor to child 
protection concerns, and children and young people experiencing the impact, and resulting trauma, of domestic 
abuse, are a particularly vulnerable group.  swaca’s (adult and) children / young people caseworkers have 
worked alongside a wide range of families / households, including families whose children are on the child 
protection register, to address the impact, and reduce the risk of further incidents, of domestic abuse.

4.  Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)/Missing Children  
will continue as a priority

So what have we done?  Between 1st April 2017 and 
31st March 2018 Sefton’s MASH received 118 CSE 
referrals regarding 107 children.  Some children had 
more than one referral made about them by different 
agencies. As explained in previous Cabinet reports, 
the CSE referral rate is not a reflection of the number 
of children at risk of CSE / a victim of CSE in Sefton, 
but does evidence the partnerships commitment 
to identifying any potential CSE risks at the earliest 
opportunity. The chart below shows the agencies who 
have made CSE referral to Sefton’s MASH.

Key to acronyms stated in graph:

Catch 22  Police Crime Commissioner commissioned Pan 
Merseyside Child Exploitation Service

CEOP  Child Exploitation Online Protection Centre

NWAS  North West Ambulance Service

OLA    Other Local Authority who have placed a looked 
after child in Sefton

 
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

■ Children’s Social Care 28
■ Catch 22 3 
■ CEOP 2
■ Early Help 8
■ Education 23
■ Fostering Agency 1
■ Health 4

■ NWAS 1
■ OLA 9
■ Police 23
■ Residential 11
■ Sexual Health 3
■ Unknown 2

 ■ Parents reference group

 ■ Child based consultation to start Sept 18 with x 2 
special schools

Autism Together worked with the trust very 
successfully last year to provide training to 
over 40 staff from across all departments. 
We aimed to raise awareness of Autism 
and Autistic Spectrum conditions and 
allow us to consider our role in supporting 
access and reasonable adjustments to the 
care we provide. To continue to support 
our understanding and following excellent 
feedback from those who attended last year 
we are able to offer the half day training 
again in July 2018.
Assistant Director of Safeguarding 
Alder Hey

The Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children chairs 
the LSCB Policy & Procedure sub group. This group 
has overseen the development of a Disabled Children 
policy and the LSCB Criminal Exploitation protocol.

The Deputy Chief Nurse is a member of the Sefton 
Youth Offending Management Board, overseeing 
performance of assessment and outcomes of CYP in 
the justice system.

The CCGs have continued to work in partnership 
with key stakeholders to progress the improvement 
plan for the local area around key areas for action. 
A Health SEND Strategic Working Group, chaired by 
the CCG Chief Nurse, meets regularly to progress 
this agenda.

The CCG supported multi agency audits throughout 
2017‑18 with both the Named GP and Designated 
Nurse engaged in.

Page 41

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 8

47% of CSE involved technological devices, such as 
via Facebook or other apps, either on the children’s 
mobile phone or IPad / laptop.  These children had 
been approached by an individual trying to sexually 
exploit them in the ‘virtual world’.  Catch22 continue 
to be commissioned by Merseyside Police Crime 
Commissioner, and have continued to undertake work 
within Schools and Colleges, to ensure children are 
aware of the risks of individuals approaching them 
online and how they can safeguard themselves from 
not responding to such approaches.

The children who have been referred due to Sefton’s 
MASH regarding potential CSE concerns were aged 
between 9 – 17 years old. The majority of CSE referrals 
received were regarding females aged between 11 
– 17 years old. However, a total of 24 referrals were 
also received regarding boys, many of which involved 
young people exploring their sexuality online.

On receiving a CSE referral the MASH continues to 
ensure that a Multi‑Agency meeting is arranged as 
soon as possible. When there is concern that a child 
is at risk of, or, a victim of CSE, Children’s Social Care 
commence an assessment with the child and their 
family / carer and Catch22, who co‑located in the 
MASH, offer their support to the young person to 
develop their insight of CSE, how they can identify 
risk and what measures they can take to safeguard 
themselves. Where there is evidence that the child is 
being sexually exploited the Police commence a Police 
investigation with the partnerships support.

Since the integration of the Child Sexual Exploitation 
and Child Criminal Exploitation Pathways in January, 
the Pre‑Multi Agency Child Exploitation Panel (MACE) 
Meeting has been held on a weekly basis, due to the 
dynamic nature of risk involving Organised Crime 
Groups.  These weekly meetings involve Merseyside 
Police MACE Co‑Chair, Police CSE and Missing 
People Co‑Ordinators, Sefton Council’s Child Sexual 
Exploitation and Child Criminal Exploitation Strategic 
Leads as MACE Co‑Chairs, and the Child Exploitation 
Business Information Analyst. These meetings 
ensure that, along with the sharing of intelligence, 
children’s cases that have, or have not, progressed 
to MACE Panel, are subject of further oversight by 
the MACE Chairs. This oversight analyses and quality 
assures the decisions made in the Child Exploitation 
strategy meetings/ case discussions and ensures 
any intelligence related to other children at risk of 
child exploitation / potential victims / perpetrators is 
identified and acted upon, in terms of both ‘Protect’ 
and ‘Prosecute’.

The children and young people who are considered 
as high risk of being exploited, and those who are 
considered as currently being exploited, are referred 
for discussion at the monthly Multi Agency Child 
Exploitation Panel (MACE).  This Panel continues to be 
co‑chaired by a Senior Officer from Merseyside Police 
and Service Manager responsible for Safeguarding 
Children as the CSE Strategic Lead, and is now 
jointly also chaired by the Child Criminal Exploitation 
Strategic Lead.  The meetings continue to be well 
attended by the partnership Child Exploitation Single 
Points of Contact.   Representatives from agencies 
working directly with the child also continue to be 
invited to MACE, to ensure the Multi‑Agency Child 
Exploitation Plan agreed is appropriate to other plan 
the child has in place, such as Child in Need Plan, Child 
Protection Plan or a Looked After Child Care Plan.

When ‘looked after’ children are placed by other Local 
Authorities with Independent Children’s Homes within 
the Sefton area, and the child has been subject of 
a Child Exploitation Plan in another area, the child 
is discussed at Sefton MACE to ensure appropriate 
transfer of the previous plan.

During the year 26% of Child Sexual Exploitation 
referrals received were regarding ‘looked after’ 
children, placed by another Local Authority in 
Children Homes in Sefton.  There continues to be 
proactive work undertaken by the MACE Co‑Chairs, 
Child Exploitation Police Officers, Child Exploitation 
Business Information Analyst, Missing Children 
Independent Return Interview staff and MACE 
Panel representatives, to ensure these children are 
safeguarded whilst in Sefton and that their care 
package and placement can safeguard them.  A 
number of children’s cases have been escalated to 
Assistant Directors or Director of Children’s Services 
of the relevant other Local Authorities, due to serious 
concerns in relation to the child/ren that they have 
placed in Sefton. When there are concerns about Care 
Providers, these continue to be escalated to Ofsted 
Compliance Service, in their regulatory body capacity.

Page 42

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  2 9

Sefton’s Licensing/CSE Working Group met on 
numerous occasions to gather evidence and produced 
its Final Report with associated recommendations, 
which Cabinet approved at its meeting held on 5 
October 2017. Amongst the recommendations 
approved by Cabinet were: ‑ 

1. Sefton’s Members of Parliament be requested 
to lobby the Home Secretary to strengthen the 
existing Regulations regarding personal licences 
to Include: ‑

a. A national data base of personal licences

b. A fit and proper persons test

c.  In particular provision to allow a Council 
to defer determination   of personal licence 
where the Individual is currently involved in a 
Police Child Sexual Exploitation investigation 
where a licenced premises is central to those 
investigations; 

2. Sefton’s Members of Parliament be requested 
to lobby the Secretary of State for Education to 
ensure that Care Providers who offer residential 
placements for 16 – 18‑year‑old children and 
young people are inspected by a regulatory body;

There has been subsequent correspondence 
between MP Peter Dowd and the Parliamentary 
Under‑Secretary of State for Children and Families 
regarding these recommendations.

LSCB Child Exploitation Workforce Briefings continue 
to be undertaken on a regular basis, with 275 
individuals attended during the last year and have 
received extremely positive feedback via the Sefton 
LSCB twitter feed.

Catch22 has been commissioned since April 2015 to 
deliver a Pan Merseyside Child Exploitation service 
to work in partnership with all 5 Local Authorities 
across Merseyside to provide 1:1 support for those 
at risk of or confirmed victims of Child Exploitation; 

including Child Sexual Exploitation and Child Criminal 
Exploitation, deliver preventative Child Exploitation 
awareness session to children and young people 
in settings such as; education provision including 
alternative and Special Education Need settings, youth 
clubs, children’s homes, specialist groups e.g. young 
carers and young parents, and additionally provide 
professionals and parents/carers with the knowledge 
to understand Child Exploitation, spot the signs and 
how to respond/reports concerns.

Catch22 have worked closely with Sefton’s workforce 
since 2015 and the service has engaged and 
provided 1:1 long term support for 154 victims of 
Child Exploitation assisting the children to reduce 
risk, recover from the exploitation suffered and also 
supporting children prior, during and post Court 
proceedings. In partnership with Sefton’s LSCB and 
Sefton Council a total of 4,495 children and young 
people have received child exploitation awareness 
sessions in the form of assemblies and group work, 
empowering them to recognise the signs of child 
exploitation and to understand the risks and who they 
can speak to raise concerns and receive the support 
required. In addition, by working closely with Sefton’s 
LSCB and Sefton Council, a total of 2,276 professionals 
have been upskilled to spot the signs of child 
exploitation and how to report concerns ensuring 
children are appropriately safeguarded.

The CCGs have continued to support the CSE agenda 
through financial contribution to the CSE business 
analyst post to support Sefton’s MACE pathway.

The Local Safeguarding Children Board has reviewed 
its Strategic Priorities and safeguarding children 
from Child Exploitation and those children that go 
missing continue to be a partnership priority for the 
Board. The Director of Social Care and Health (DCS) 
has continued to chair the LSCB Child Exploitation 
Sub Group and report assurances that agencies are 
safeguarding children from child exploitation to the 
LSCB Executive Group.

Page 43

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 0

Children reported as missing from 
home / care
All missing episodes reported to the police or Council 
Emergency Duty team either directly by parents/
carers or by other professionals supporting their 
care continue to be communicated to the MASH who 
identified of the child has an Early Help key worker or 
is known to Sefton Social Care or is a looked after chid 
paced in Sefton by another Local Authority.

Over the year there were 1305 occasions when 
children were reported as missing from home / care, 
this is circa 100 episodes per month. Less than half of 
these occasions were regarding Sefton’s looked after 
children (472 occasions = 36%).

All young people who are reported as missing from 
home / care continue to be notified to the Missing 
Children Independent Return Officers from the 
Early Help Service, who have been co‑located in 
the Multi‑Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).  The 
Independent Return Officers are experienced youth 
work staff. They arrange an independent interview 
to explore with the young person the reasons for 
the missing episode. The interview notes are agreed 
with the young person and stored on the child’s 
electronic record. A copy of these notes is also shared 
with the Police to support any investigation work. 
For young people supported by a plan the notes are 
also shared with their Lead Practitioner (or Social/
Early Help worker). The Lead Practitioner can then use 
this feedback to review their plan, in order 
to reduce further missing episodes and 
increase their safety.

Over the year, of the 1305 occasions 
children were reported missing, 85% were 
offered an Independent Return Interview, 
with an average of 30% of Return 
Interviews being undertaken within 72 
hours.  Quality audits of children’s records 
evidence that a number of actions are 
undertaken to try and engage children in 
Return Interviews by the Youth Workers 
and partnership agencies. Some children 
are reported missing again before the 
Return Interview can be undertaken, 
and the Return Interview subsequently 
undertaken discusses each of the missing 
occasions within the one Return Interview. 
It is recognised that Corporate Parenting 
Board have been made aware of the 
Return Interview performance data and 
the actions being undertaken to try and 

improve this performance, including the Making a 
Difference Group providing their views as to how the 
Return Interviews can be undertaken to engage the 
children and young people.

In addition, Merseyside Police analyse the children 
who are Top 10 missing children, and the Children’s 
Homes from which children predominantly go missing.  
These individuals and Children’s Homes are discussed 
at Police operational briefing meetings.  Intelligence 
regarding where children have been found, or they 
have stated where they have been when missing 
is communicated and recorded on the children’s 
police missing people’s records.  If there are ongoing 
concerns a visit is undertaken to the children’s 
home by a Senior Police Officer or a Neighbourhood 
Inspector to discuss risk assessment and action plan.

In conclusion, the Regulatory Bodies; Ofsted, CQC, 
HMIC and HMIP currently have a Joint Targeted Area 
Inspection Framework in place regarding child sexual 
and criminal exploitation and missing from home / 
education / care.  A Sefton Self Evaluation has been 
undertaken against this framework, to reflect the 
work the partnership continues to undertake in Sefton 
to safeguard our children, and those placed by other 
Local Authorities in our area, from child exploitation.

The PQA scrutinises data and provides challenge in 
relation to CSE and Missing Children, however it is 
noted that there is a specific sub group that looks at 
these issues in significant detail.

Page 44

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 1

The Audit in relation to Criminal Exploitation focused 
on these issues and as a result Sefton has led 
development of Pan – Merseyside Child Exploitation 
Pathways which recognise the links between Missing, 
CCE and CSE, ensuring that there is a co‑ordinated 
approach and risk is well managed.

The commissioned sexual health services provide 
on‑going monitoring of Child Sexual Exploitation 
referrals and pathway effectiveness. Public health 
commissioners have worked with the provider to 
develop a South Sefton Hub which enables the 
provision of young people sessions within the service.

Also, sexual health is working in collaboration with 0 – 
19 Service, Schools and Families, Sefton Youth Cabinet 
and Addaction Young People and Family Substance 
Use service on developing Sex and Relationships 
education for schools.

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)

A Pan Merseyside CDOP is in place to enable learning 
to be gained and analysed across a broader footprint.  
Merseyside CDOP were notified of 115 child deaths 
between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 across the 
five LSCB areas in Merseyside. Of these, 17 children 
were from Sefton of which 5 had modifiable factors.

Examples of modifiable factors in 
children’s’ deaths in Merseyside 
have been:

 ❖ Risk of overheating in babies

 ❖ Parental alcohol/substance misuse, unsafe 
sleeping practices

 ❖ Domestic violence and associated stress

 ❖ Potential co‑sleeping/parental smoking

 ❖ Maternal smoking/substance misuse and 
lack of engagement during pregnancy

 ❖ Maternal smoking

 ❖ Possible damage to cervix

 ❖ Maternal health conditions

 ❖ High maternal BMI

 ❖ Negligent care in service provision as a 
potential contributory factor

 ❖ Delay in presentation at hospital

 ❖ Risk taking behaviour

 ❖ Lack of supervision

 ❖ Safety of environment

 ❖ Substance misuse by parent

 ❖ Failing in service provision

 ❖ Service accessibility

 ❖ Lack of parental supervision

 ❖ Failure to assess impact of issues that 
resulted in greater urgency regarding a 
referral for a service

 ❖ Use of written agreements and lack of 
clarity for agencies

Page 45

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 2

Information relating to sefton child deaths;

11
expected

deaths

3 sudden 
unexpected 

deaths of children
from 2 years up to 18 years

3 sudden 
unexpected in infancy

Sefton deaths amounted to 17:

The 17 broke down to

During the year 11 Sefton deaths 
were categorised:  

8 male and 3 female

 8 male                             9 female

5 had modifiable factors, 6 had 
no modifiable factors

Modifiable factors were:

 ■ Suboptimal care identified by hospital

 ■ Behavioural issues, gang and knife 
crime, vulnerability to criminal 
exploitation and poor parenting

 ■ Social integration and support, 
increased vulnerability

 ■ Increased vulnerability due to 
stomach issue not being identified

In terms of age for 
those categorised:

 ■ 3 perinatal (24 weeks gestation up to 
7 days)

 ■ 1 neonatal (up to 28 days)

 ■ 3 from 28 days to 1 year

 ■ 3 from 1 year to 4 years

 ■ 1 from 15 to 18 years

Categories:

 ■ 1 x category 1 – deliberately inflicted 
injury, abuse or neglect

 ■ 4 x category 7 – chromosomal, genetic 
and congenital anomalies

 ■ 4 x category 8 – perinatal/neonatal 
event

 ■ 1 x category 9 – infection

 ■ 1 x category 10 – sudden unexpected, 
unexplained death

Timescales from notification 
to categorisation:

 ■ 2 – under 6 months

 ■ 4 – 6 to 7 months

 ■ 2 – 8 to 9 months

 ■ 3 – more than 12 months

* Out of the above, Sefton LSCB will further review 3 of 
these cases to  enhance partnership learning. 

Page 46

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 3

Additional work undertaken by CDOP has included 
a Safe sleeping campaign. When audited, practice 
around this expectation was not strongly evidenced 
and as a response, a 2nd audit was agreed to 
re‑visit. This audit is underway is expected to show 
evidence of a greater engagement by midwives and 
health visitors.

CDOP also has a suicide prevention group who 
continue to meet to explore opportunities and 
resources pan Merseyside in relation to this cohort 
of children and young people. Whilst pace has been 
slow they are in line with a plan of intention to rollout 
in January 2019 the development of materials to 
support frontline staff in this area of intervention.

Looking, listening and learning as 
a Board
The LSCB’s Learning and Development sub group have 
continued to support the partnership workforce to 
learn and develop their practice in line with National 
and local findings.

In October 2017, the LSCB launched the Level of 
Need guidance. What was commonly known as 
the “threshold” document was purposely renamed 
as a more accurate description of this documents’ 
intention to support the work force in their practice 
considerations. The LSCB want to support a workforce 
that does not feel the need to ‘break through a 
threshold barrier’ to gain access to a particular service 
but rather a workforce that is successful in meeting 
the needs of our community members through 
appropriate interventions. Our collective drive is to 
have one plan, the right plan, at the right time for 
the right reasons.

This was a significant piece of work for the partnership 
and achieved through a series of consultation events, 
small multi agency working groups, a marketing 
strategy and 3 launch events led by the LSCB 
Chair to audiences of over 300 staff. The feedback 
that the board has received during the stages in 
consultation as well as the end product has been 
extremely complimentary. We have worked hard to 
ensure that the examples of indicators are extensive 
and improved for frontline staff to consider in their 
assessment of need and associated risks concerning 
children and their families.

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are serious 
traumas that result in toxic stress that can harm a 
child’s brain, preventing them from learning, playing in 
a healthy way and can contribute to long term health 
problems. They include emotional, physical or sexual 

abuse, violence, mental illness, substance misuse, 
neglect and criminal activity. At the request of the 
Board, the subgroup produced a discussion paper with 
recommendations that multiagency training should 
be implemented across Sefton to raise awareness 
of the existence and impact of ACEs. The paper also 
recommended the commissioning and evaluation of a 
trauma informed ACE recovery toolkit to be delivered 
to vulnerable parents. The subgroup is currently 
overseeing the work in collaboration with Knowlsey 
and Liverpool Public Health teams of a North Mersey 
ACE pilot. At the time of writing the report:

 ■ 4 Sefton staff have been trained to 
become ACEs Recovery facilitators

 ■ Liverpool John Moores University are 
evaluating the quality of the training and 
impact of the intervention for parents 
and children

 ■ The first of two 10 week courses for 
parents has started.

The subgroup will continue to monitor progress and 
make recommendations to the partnership as to 
future interventions and training.

A Training Needs Analysis (TNA) was completed by 
LSCB partners.  Board members agreed that they 
would take responsibility for ensuring that their 
respective agencies completed the audit in a timely 
and accurate fashion. There has been a significant 
improvement in the participation compared to 
previous years, with input from local authority, NHS 
and 3rd sector partners. This has enabled the Learning 
and Development Officer to capture the number 
and level of need required by agency, in relation to 
working with children.

In the last 12 months the group has developed 
a strong multi agency partnership including 
representatives from NHS, local authority, probation 
and the third sector. It is committed to developing 
and providing high quality, innovative, forward think 
training to partners in Sefton helping to realise their 
safeguarding duties. This involves quality assurance, 
developing and implementing training.

A significant amount of training is delivered by 
our enthusiastic and committed training pool. 
Membership has changed reflecting normal staff 
turnover, however new recruits have consistently been 
identified representing a wide range of professionals.  
Development sessions and shadowing opportunities 
have helped develop the skills and confidence of 
trainers. Supporting and sustaining the pool is a key 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 4

priority for the sub group going forward.

The Practice Review Panel has worked hard through 
vehicles such as the LSCB newsletter, to encourage 
agencies to share practice that would be of benefit 
to the wider partnership. Within this time period, 
the board has seen an increase in the submission of 
identified cases.

A summary of cases and learning exercises, shared 
throughout the reporting period, is listed below and 
the cases are then referenced against each LSCB 
priority, where appropriate.

Throughout the year the PRP has facilitated and 
overseen learning from a number cases  and 
reviews including:

Case Review (Toxic Trio)

 ■ Following the multi agency Practice 
Learning Review by the Designated Nurse 
Safeguarding Children, an action plan 
has been developed, progressed and 
monitored through the subgroup. Learning 
has been disseminated through a 7 
minute briefing, shared with the Learning 
& Development sub group and raised with 
the CDOP Chair to share learning at a 
national forum. The case featured issues 
of parental substance misuse, mental 
health, domestic abuse and Early Help

Single Agency (Health) Practice 
Learning Review:

 ■ Following the single agency (health) 
Practice Learning Review by the 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding, an action 
plan has been developed, progressed 
and monitored through the sub group. 
Learning has been shared with the 
Early Help Task & Finish Group. The 
case featured issues of Early Help and 
parenting assessment

Learning Review:

 ■ A review of a case transferred into Sefton 
was undertaken by health (Designated 
Dr & Nurse) and Social Care (Head of 
Children’s Social Care) in respect of 
concerns of obesity and safeguarding. 
Findings from the review were presented 
at the panel and Public Health were 
invited to provide an update on current 
pathways for obesity. Learning was shared 
with the Policy & Procedure subgroup 

in order to develop guidance for the 
partnership. The case featured issues 
of neglect

Knowsley Peer Review:

A Learning Review undertaken by a neighbouring 
LSCB with involvement from Sefton MASH, was 
shared with the panel. Learning for Sefton LSCB has 
been extracted from the review and an action plan 
progressed to include development of pathways for 
MASH for forensic medical examinations. The case 
featured issues of delays in medical examinations and 
clear forensic pathways.

Youth Custody Review:

 ■ A Reflective Review Practice Group 
involving EDT, police, MASH, Education 
representative and YOT was facilitated 
by the LSCB Business Manager to explore 
a case involving a young person in 
custody. Learning from the review will 
be monitored through an action plan 
and include development of a 7 minute 
briefing and sharing the learning with 
the Policy & Procedure sub group so 
enable amendments to the ‘Children who 
Sexually Harm’ Policy. The case featured 
issues of placement planning and 
appropriate accommodation following 
risk assessment

We have supported a review of a young 
person who was kept in police custody 
overnight and addressed some shortfalls 
that have been identified as a result.   We 
are an open service and are willing to 
be professionally challenged to improve 
outcomes for young people within Sefton.”
Superintendent Merseyside Police

In December 2017, a Serious Case Review was 
initiated. The case featured issues of neglect, parental 
substance misuse and concerns with multiagency 
working to safeguard the children. The Serious Case 
Review Panel, commissioned an independent reviewer 
who used a hybrid systems approach. This included 
Individual Management Reviews (IMRs) from relevant 
services, structured conversations with practitioners 
and managers, and a learning event for practitioners 
involved in the case. The report is scheduled to be 
presented to the LSCB in July 2018 prior to publication.

Page 48

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 5

CAMHS/ GP referrals:

 ■ An update of CAMHS processes was 
shared with the panel to provide 
assurance on the referral pathways 
from GPs

‘True for us’ exercises:

 ■ JTAI (Response to Domestic Abuse): 
a copy of Ofsted’s report on ‘the 
multi‑agency response to children living 
with domestic abuse’ was reviewed by 
the panel. The report was shared with 
the Domestic Abuse Executive to review 
and inform the development of the 
multiagency Domestic Abuse policy that 
will be received by the Policy & Procedure 
sub group

 ■ Derbyshire LSCB (Serious Case Review 
ADS14 Polly*): a copy was reviewed by the 
panel. The Designated Doctor and Nurse 
agreed to develop a briefing for health 
partners and shared with the Health sub 
group. A 7‑minute briefing was developed 
to highlight the issue of ‘supervision 
orders’ raised within the report

Appendix 2 further demonstrates the hive of activity 
the board has committed to over the last 12 months 
under the umbrella of the LSCB Learning and 
Improvement Framework.

Appendix 3 and 4 are examples of the 7 minute 
briefings that have derived from two multi‑agency 
audits the board undertook in relation to children with 
disabilities and children criminally exploited. These are 
disseminated to members, agencies, again through 
the LSCB newsletter and posted on to our website. As 
part of LSCB training events, learning is shared on all 
audit activity.

Sefton LSCB benefits from a trained audit pool from 
across the partnership. Over time, this membership 
group have grown in their understanding of what is 
required to complete a thorough audit and the quality 
of evidence needed. The recent audit in relation  to 
Children with Disabilities, evidenced As Following the 
Children with Disability audit: 

“North West Boroughs Health was able to 
provide some extremely robust evidence 
of really good assessments that had taken 
place. One exemplar involved a Health Needs 
Assessment completed by a School Nurse 
(child on CP), which evidenced that the 
child’s voice was absolutely central to the 
process, leading to a clear identification of 
his needs and required support”.
Feedback from LSCB to NWBH.

Education, educating themselves.
In line with statutory requirements, schools and 
colleges will receive an annual audit (s175/157) which 
is undertaken by the LSCB. As can be seen from the 
summary of key findings below, it is assuring to see 
that schools have a strong focus on safeguarding 
arrangements and remain committed to keeping 
children safe in education.

Key findings were:

 ■ Strong commitment to safeguarding. 

 ■ Good progress meeting previous S175/157 audit 
recommendations (approaches to managing 
allegations and e‑safety). 

 ■ Effective role of DSL and Deputies. 

 ■ Effective role of Sefton governors. 

 ■ Good awareness of key statutory guidance. 

 ■ Key policies in place. 

 ■ Evidence of effective partnership working. 

 ■ Effective monitoring of attendance and 
safeguarding incidents. 

 ■ Good awareness of LSCB policies 
and procedures. 

 ■ Good use  of LSCB briefings and training offers. 

 ■ Further development to maintain a 
culture of vigilance/improve practice:  
deepen understanding of early help/
training, maintain safer recruitment, 
bespoke plans, all to have information 
management/recording systems, continue 
to capture voice of child, share audit 
actions with governing bodies.

Page 49

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 6

What have our board members done to implement the lessons learned 
through the LSCB to improve outcomes for children and families?
Feedback on the learning from the Audit and Practice 
Review of Domestic Abuse prompted a number of 
actions to improve and embed training and learning 
on these areas. The Training and Development 
Officer worked with Training Pool Members to 
develop Domestic Abuse Training in line with the 
recommendations from the audit. She was able to 
observe the MARAC   to ensure key messages from 
the process were embedded within the training offer.  
This is a good example of partners working across 
sub groups. Professionals recognised a need to better 
understand the issues around domestic abuse. This 
led to an audit which provided key learning points 
which have now been incorporated into training 
to improve practice that will hopefully improve 
safeguarding. The next stage will be to review practice 
and demonstrate the positive impact of training.

The Named Nurse for adult  safeguarding has 
collaborated with South Liverpool Domestic Abuse 
Service  to develop (SLDAS) a training programme 
to deliver to staff across the trust. To support 
this collaborative work and to further publicise 
the Domestic Abuse and Violence  Policy a joint 
presentation was delivered to the Trust Grand Round 
and further training was rolled out throughout 
the year.

A child chastisement audit was completed which 
was presented at a National Paediatric Conference.  
The cohort of children included in the audit was 
selected from children referred to the Rainbow 
Centre for possible physical abuse.  The findings of 
the audit confirmed there was a correlation between 
what is considered as acceptable standards of child 
chastisement and cultural backgrounds.  The findings 
of the audit have been shared with the LSCB and will 
underpin future training events.

The trust presented at a recent National CDOP 
Conference; advocating the benefits of the Pan 
Merseyside SUDiC Process, which includes guidance 
when a child has a sudden life‑threatening event 
(ALTE). The key message being; a rapid response 
process should be triggered at the point of a ‘sudden 
collapse’ rather than ‘sudden death’.

The Learning and Development sub group of the LSCB  
monitors activity and developments across other 
LSCB sub groups. An audit of safe sleep practice by 
the Mersey CDOP identified variation in the advice 
provided to families. In response, the 7 minute 
briefing on safe sleep was recirculated. This provided 

an opportunity to remind all staff of the importance 
of providing safe sleep advice in line with the Lullaby 
Trust and CDOP guidance.

The Early Help and Neglect Strategy is currently being 
refreshed by the board. Feedback from partners 
has identified a need to provide a clearer working 
definition of what is meant by early help and more 
specifically each partners role within the early help 
offer. The group will review and embed the new 
learning needs in all training packages offered to 
the partnership.

Throughout the year the Training Pool development 
days and subgroup meetings have reviewed learning 
from across the partnership. Learning from audits and 
reviews, which included Local Learning as well as that 
from neighbouring Authorities and National Serious 
Case Reviews’ has identified a number of issues 
relating to vulnerable groups.  An example was the 
learning from the practice review of a Child who sadly 
died. This highlighted a number of key areas where 
improvement was required. They were: recognising 
disguised compliance through professional curiosity; 
working with families; lead practitioner accountability 
and responsibility across the thresholds of need; and 
professional understanding of the LSCB thresholds. 
The first 3 had specific implications for the Learning 
and Development group. These were:  inclusion of 
information in newsletters and website; systems in 
place to audit attendance of key training events; and 
amendments to existing training offer to include 
reference to key themes.

Page 50

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 7

Multi‑agency reflection at the vulnerable group 
meetings led to other actions, including:

 ■ 7 minute briefing on 

• Adverse Childhood Experience

• Safeguarding disabled children, young 
carers

• Learning from audit Child Criminal 
Exploitation were produced 
and circulated.

 ■ Safeguarding disabled children has 
now been specifically incorporated into 
Working Together training.

 ■ The group worked with other partners to 
identify additional training, including

• Young Addaction provided sessions on 
substance misuse,

• Foetal Alcohol Syndrome 
in collaboration with public 
health Knowsley,

• Human slavery and trafficking , FGM 
training by Savera

Within Public Health, children’s safeguarding is a 
specified responsibility of one of the consultants that 
works there as part of their job role. The department 
also contributes to a number of key sub groups; 
chairing learning and development and participating 
regularly in early help/neglect, vulnerable groups 
and the health sub group. When requested the 
department has attended other sub groups to provide 
a public health perspective. Specific safeguarding 
actions are included in each year’s Public Health 
Service plan. Safeguarding business is a standing item 
on the department team meetings and all members 
of the team are challenged to embed lessons learnt. 
Over the past year work activities reflect.

 ■ Learning from practice review reflecting 
on the potential relationship between 
obesity and neglect. This has prompted 
the commissioning of bespoke training to 
support staff deliver early interventions 
and recognise the role obesity may play in 
safeguarding issues.

 ■ Learning from practitioner discussions at 
Vulnerable Children’s sub group has led to 
greater co‑production between providers to 
ensure better information sharing, appropriate 
referral and joint service delivery in cases where 
children may have sexual health and substance 
misuse needs as well as emotional health issues. 
This is overseen by public health commissioners.

Working with board members has also influenced 
public health commissioning practice directly. 
For example, the CCG designated nurse now 
routinely shares key findings from the quarterly 
CCG safeguarding KPI review with public health 
commissioners prior to the public health performance 
meeting with 0‑19 services. This enables the 
Council to seek the appropriate assurance that any 
safeguarding issues are appropriately addressed 
whilst promoting effective and safe working. Provider 
services benefit as they are not asked to provide 
duplicate information and receive consistent and 
coordinated management from commissioners. 
Ultimately this ensures issues are dealt with quickly 
causing least risk to safeguarding.

Southport & Ormskirk Hospital provide consistent 
attendance as an important member of the LSCB 
and within that, have provided assurance regarding 
safeguarding arrangements in the Trust. The LSCB 
priorities are detailed in Safeguarding training for the 
Trust Executive Board. The Safeguarding Team within 
the trust are members of the LSCB multi agency 
audit group and provide support to the multi‑agency 
training pool. Their pro‑active safeguarding 
engagement was acknowledged during their CQC 
Inspection. The report published from this in March 
2018 said:

Safeguarding adults, children and 
young people at risk was given sufficient 
priority. Staff took a proactive approach 
to safeguarding and focused on early 
identification. They took steps to prevent 
abuse or discrimination that might cause 
avoidable harm, responded appropriately 
to any signs or allegations of abuse and 
worked effectively with others, including 
people using the service, to agree and 
implement protection plans. There was 
active and appropriate engagement in local 
safeguarding procedures and effective work 
with other relevant organisations, including 
when people experienced harassment or 
abuse in the community.

Page 51

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 8

Voice of the Child (VOC) 
and understanding their 
lived experiences

All multi‑agency audits demonstrate that 
practitioners in partner agencies effectively engage 
and develop a good rapport with children and young 
people. There are good examples within our audits of 
practitioners building trust with children and young 
people and capturing their views and understanding 
their needs.

The ‘Voice of the Child’ is highlighted in all training. 
Delegates are always asked to,

 ■ ‘Think what it is like to be a day in the life 
of the child!

 ■  What would that child’s voice say, when 
explaining to you what they have to do, 
see, hear or fear…on a daily basis’

 ■  This work is not just about the wishes and 
feelings work!

The group recognises the need to better understand 
and hear the voice of the children in our community. 
In response young people at Impact have been asked 
to tell us what ‘Safe’ means to them. Additional 
consultations are planned with Hugh Baird College 
students and at the forthcoming Bully Busters event. 
There are also plans to develop a young person’s 
consultation plan.

PQA members – Localities Team Manager South and 
LSCB QA Officer ‑ conducted group work with pupils in 
Sefton’s Pupil Referral Unit as part of the development 
of an LSCB Children and Young People’s Consultation 
and Engagement Strategy’ pupil shared their views 
on local gangs, knife crime, drugs, social media, why 
children go missing and child sexual exploitation.  A 
series of visits and dedicated day are planned to cover 
all school phases and FE; the aim is to use the voice 
of our children and young people to inform service 
redesign and strategic priorities as partners move to 
new multi‑agency safeguarding arrangements.

Children Social Care(CSC) continues to ensure the 
voice of child in known and understood. The recent 
Local Government Association peer review noted 
that Social Workers know their children well. The 
restructure of CSC in October 17 is yet to have the 
desired impact but should support less changes of 
social worker in the long term. CSC commissioned the 
Young Advisors to undertake a piece of work seeking 
the views of children and Young people in the CiN / 
CP service, this was shared with the board and an 
action plan has been developed and implemented to 

improve this area of practice. This report was shared 
with the LSCB.

During 2017/18, SWACA (Sefton Women and 
Children’s Aid) has continued to employ dedicated 
children / young people’s workers, who use a range of 
interventions and engagement approaches focused 
on enabling the voice of the child / young person, 
affected by domestic abuse, to be truly heard.  This 
involves SWACA staff:

 ■ working directly with children and young 
people, who have been affected by 
domestic abuse, to build their confidence, 
and trust, in sharing any concerns they 
may have regarding their experiences of 
domestic abuse;

 ■ attending child protection conferences, 
core groups, and other relevant 
safeguarding‑related multi‑agency 
meetings, to promote the voice of the 
child within decision‑making processes;

 ■ undertaking group work activities, 
enabling age‑appropriate facilitated 
peer support which enables children and 
young people to share their concerns 
appropriately, have their voice heard, and 
help each other;

 ■ working between the adults and 
children’s / young people’s teams to 
ensure the voice of the child is clearly 
heard within the family / household.

Merseyside Police have been subject of HMIC review 
for Child Protection matters and Voice of the Child 
featured heavily in that inspection.  Official findings 
from the review are yet to be published but a huge 
amount of work was completed by the Police in the 
preceding 12 months to raise awareness in that area.  
The in‑house forms are being amended to feature 
VOC as a prompt for attending officers.  Training is 
to be completed to enable officers to recognise the 
voice of the child but not interview with achieving best 
evidence in line with Working Together principles.

To further improve engagement and capture of the 
voice of the child Southport and Ormskirk Hospital 
have specifically added a section to Paediatric 
liaison forms for both A&E departments to capture 
this information. In addition, mental health 
documentation and Child Protection medicals 
documentation have been changed. Play leaders 
have developed feedback sheets to help children 
express their views and there are suggestion boxes in 
departments and wards.

Page 52

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  3 9

A practice guide provided by the LSCB for health 
professionals in relation to capturing the child’s voice 
has been cascaded throughout the Trust.

As well as updated training for staff, the hospital 
has carried out open days (eg. Superhero event 
and Diabetes open day) and evaluation events that 
has led to some positive changes (eg changes to 
diabetic care following feedback from children and 
aesthetic changes to quiet rooms in response to 
children’s requests).

Within NWBH safeguarding supervision 
documentation has been revised to capture the voice 
of the child and health information requests from 
MARAC and MAPPA meetings now prompts clinicians 
to consider the voice of children. The introduction 
of the Lancaster model will enable school nurses to 
directly capture the voice of children who participate 
in year 6, 9, and 11 health assessments. Staff have 
also been trained in developing case studies to 
evidence interventions and the voice of the child to 
demonstrate improvement and impact on outcomes, 
for children. Please see attached case study examples.

The Director of Public Health is required to produce 
an annual report on the health and wellbeing of 
their population highlighting key issues. This year’s 
2017/18 Public Health Annual Report (PHAR) has been 
produced as a short film which explores the emotional 
wellbeing and mental health of children and young 
people and the services and resources which are 
available to support them. The film recognises the 
importance of building resilience, promoting good 
mental health and wellbeing and enabling children 
and young people to grow up happy and healthy. A 
link to the film, key statistics and recommendations 
for implementation during 2018/19 along with an 
update on recommendations from last year’s report 
will be available on the Council’s website.

Through Public Health “Big Love Little Sista” was 
a specially commissioned art project delivered in 
Greenbank and Newfield schools aimed at young 
women facing challenges around growing up and 
changes to their bodies and mind. Through writing, 
drawing and sharing experiences with locally 
identified female leader’s young women were inspired 
to explore issues of mental wellbeing.  Young women 
gave positive reviews of the project including:

Not everyone feels like they belong – this 
project makes girls feel that they all belong 
and can be different and ok

This is a place girls can feel secure

To meet new people and not feel so alone

This project is currently being evaluated along with 
other resilience building projects. Participants views 
will inform the design and commissioning of future 
interventions to build confidence and feelings of 
safety among young people.

In January 2018, the LSCB received a presentation 
from Sefton Young Advisors in respect of a 
commissioned piece of work which engaged children, 
young people and their families to ascertain their 
views on Child in Need and Child Protection plans.

Showcasing good practice 
– a selection of agency 
self declarations
Public Health ‑ Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACE)

ACEs are serious childhood traumas that result in toxic 
stress that can harm a child’s brain. This toxic stress 
may prevent a child from learning, from playing in 
a healthy way with other children, and can result in 
long‑term health problems. They include: emotional, 
physical or sexual abuse, Violence within the family, 
substance use, Mental illness, Parental separation or 
divorce, Criminal activity in the household, Emotional 
or physical neglect.

The LSCB tasked the learning and development 
Subgroup to review ‘ACE’ research and consider 
whether it was appropriate to make a proposal to the 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 0

Executive for the partnership to use ACE evidence 
base within assessments when working with families. 
Public Health carried out the literature review of 
national and international practice and a rapid 
mapping of current activity at a Cheshire and Mersey 
Level. This was supplemented with opportunistic 
professional networking and exploration of a local 
research pilot.

The subgroup concluded that ACE assessments and 
consideration of the impact of ACEs should inform 
practice.  Public Health has worked with colleagues 
from Knowsley and Liverpool to coordinate a pilot 
intervention which uses a trauma informed approach 
to support clients who have experienced ACEs. 
Practitioners from across the 3 local authority areas 
have been trained to deliver the intervention.

 ■  The recovery toolkit has been written 
to educate and inform parents about 
the impact of ACE’s on them and 
their children.

 ■  It also provides step‑by‑step guidance on 
the protective factors that help ameliorate 
the impact of ACE’s and practical methods 
of parents developing the resilience for 
themselves and their children.

 ■ The pilot is being fully evaluated by 
Liverpool John Moores University and the 
learning will focus on:

• How training impacts on staff 
understanding of ACEs and 
subsequent impact on practice

• Outcomes for clients – positive 
changes to parents’ wellbeing and 
parenting practice are expected to 
impact positively on the wellbeing of 
their children.

Gambling

Sefton Public Health collaborated with Knowsley 
Public health run a joint gambling awareness 
conference at Aintree. There was a particular focus on 
young peoples gambling with a powerful and moving 
drama looking at the impact on a young person’s 
emotional and social wellbeing. A range of speakers 
provided updates on the national and local impact 
of gambling, interventions including the new BigDeal 
Youth Outreach Programme funded by Gamcare and 
delivered by the Beacon Counselling Trust, information 
about treatment options and how to access support.

Building resilience

Public Health has worked with partners in the Sefton 
Integrated Commissioning Group to develop a number 
of pilot interventions aimed at building the resilience 
of school pupils. Evaluation from the pilots will help 
commissioners, together with provider organisations 
decide how school based interventions should be 
shaped to promote resilience.

The project is being co‑produced with young people 
and other key partners, including schools, the 
voluntary sector, local authority, NHS Trusts and CCG.

The focus is on prevention and early intervention. 
Initial consultation suggested:

 ■ The transition from Primary to 
Secondary Schools was a pivotal time for 
young people

 ■ A ‘Whole Schools Approach’ is required.

 ■ Peer mentoring and web‑based 
approaches were highlighted as 
positive approaches.

Public Health convened a Mental Resilience 
Consultation Group comprised of representatives from 
the Council, CCG, Community and Voluntary Sector 
(CVS) and Schools.  Possible activities were challenged 
re workability, cost, timescales, legacy potential etc.  
A number of pilots were chosen and are now being 
tested, They include:

Youth Connect 5 ‑ a free course that gives parents 
and carers the knowledge, skills and understanding 
to help children develop strong emotional wellbeing 
through resilience‑building techniques.

Big Love Little Sista ‑ Special arts based project 
aimed at young women regarding growing up and 
changes to body and mind.

Nurture & Thrive ‑ Linking parents and pupils to 
support services provided by trained points of contact 
within the community.

Emotional Literacy – training for teaching staff 
who work directly with pupils and further follow 
up sessions for senior school leaders focusing on 
developing a whole school approach to better 
mental health.

Page 54

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 1

For Alder Hey they would share their key 
achievements during 2017/18 as being:

 ■ Effective management of the 
Safeguarding Service and appropriate 
escalation to ensure the Executive 
Team are sighted on all significant 
Safeguarding issues.

 ■ Being able to demonstrate through the 
CCG Quality Assurance process a level of 
‘reasonable assurance’ with an upward 
trajectory noted.

 ■ Achieving full safeguarding training 
compliance (above 90%) across all levels 
as set by the CCG.

 ■ Review of the Safeguarding Training 
Strategy to enhance the Training 
programme in order to reflect key learning 
from local and National guidance.

 ■ Collaborating closely with the CCG to 
further enhance service delivery of the 
LAC & Adoption services and further 
develop the Digitalisation of Statutory 
Services to enhance patient care.

 ■ Further development of Early Help 
systems, focusing on a whole family 
approach with discharge planning at 
the point of admission and improved 
integration between Acute and 
Community Services.

 ■ Continue to contribute to the development 
of the Community Transformation Agenda 
to progress a model of integration 
between the Acute Tertiary Services and 
Community Services to meet the needs of 
children, young people and their families 
across the whole continuum of need.

Page 55

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 2

Next years priorities
These four working priorities consider the continued requirement of robust safeguarding approaches within 
Sefton as it transitions from an LSCB into a new multi‑agency safeguarding arrangement in accordance with 
legislative changes. Most recently, the board re‑aligned its statutory focus and safely redirected the operational 
responsibilities back to the strategic owners and accountable forums. This realignment provides required 
capacity for the board to concentrate upon improving outcomes for children and better evidencing impact 
on the same, aligned with assurances that each agency actively seeks the voices of children. For the board to 
sustain a clear focus in reaching its goals, the priorities moving forward will be reflective and complimentary to 
this strategic aim.

The safeguarding priorities are:

 1    To ensure the partnership drives impact and outcome focused practice which will 
be evidenced through single agency and a partnership Performance Management 

2    Evidencing the response to the voice of the child and the community and the impact 
this is having within safeguarding

3    To continually support and contribute to staff development through training and 
audit activities by increasing the learning across the partnership through training and 
audit activities.

The business priority is:

4  To ensure a controlled and formal transition from the LSCB to the renewed 
safeguarding arrangements

All our work is underpinned by an agreed set of approaches, shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board, so 
that we all work together to deliver improved outcomes for children and young people:

 ■ Having a family approach.

 ■ Listening to children and young people.

 ■ Promoting partnership working, joint commissioning and investing in children and young 
people’s futures.

Page 56

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 3

Glossary of terms
ACE Adverse Childhood Experiences

ASC Autism Spectrum Conditions

CAF Common Assessment Framework

CAFCASS  Children and Family Court Advisory and 
Support Service

CAMHS  Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

CDOP Child Death Overview Panel

CIN Child in Need

CLA Currently Looked After 

CVS Council for Voluntary Service

CPP Child Protection Plan

CQC Care Quality Commission

CSC Children’s Social Care

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation

DCS Director of Children’s Services

DfE Department for Education

DO  Designated Officer (Previously referred to 
as LADO)

EHAT Early Help Assessment Tool

EHC Education Health Care

EHM Early Help Module

EYFS Early Years Foundation Stage

FGM Female Genital Mutilation

GCP Graded Care Profile

GDPR General Data Protection Regulation

GP General Practitioner

HMIC  Her Majesty’s Inspectorate 
of Constabularies 

HMIP Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Prisons

IRI Independent Return Interview

KPI Key Performance Indicator

LA Local Authority

LAC Looked After Child / Children 

LD Learning Disability

LGA Local Government Association

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board

MAPPA  Multi Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements

MARAC Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference

MACE Multi Agency Child Exploitation 

MASH Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub

NHS National Health Service

NSPCC  National Society for the Prevention of 
Cruelty to Children 

NWAS North West Ambulance Service

OFSTED  Office for Standards in Education, 
Children’s Services and Skills

PCSO Police Community Support Officer

PPO Public Protection Order

PPU Public Protection Unit

RSE Relationship and Sex Education

SAB Safeguarding Adults Board

SCR Serious Case Review

SEND Special Educational Needs and Disability

SOS Signs of Safety 

SUDIC Sudden Unexplained Death in Childhood

UASC Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children

Page 57

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 4

Appendix 1
Sefton local safeguarding children board (lscb) structure

• Sefton LSCB Main Board 

• Sefton LSCB Executive Board 
(meets bi‑monthly)

(meets bi‑monthly)

Practice Review 
Panel (PRP)

Performance & 
Quality Assurance 

Group

Policy & 
Procedures
Sub‑Group

Learning & 
Development

Sub‑Group
Early Help Task
& Finish Group

Merseyside Child 
Death Overview 

Panel

Child Exploitation & Missing Children 
Operational/Practitioners Group  
Private Fostering 
Early Help/Neglect 
Joint Health Sub Group 
Voice of the Child 
E‑Safety 

This panel enables 
learning from child 

deaths to be 
gathered and 

analysed across a 
Merseyside 
footprint.

This group is 
responsible for 

ensuring that local 
safeguarding 

arrangements for 
early help are 

e�ective and meet 
local need. This 

group all oversees 
the early help 

strategy for the 
LSCB.

It is the 
responsibility of this 

group to develop 
and review the 

training needs of 
the partnership as 
well as to evaluate 
the impact of that 

training in practice. 
This group also 

widely shares the 
learning that the 
LSCB has gained 

through its 
activities.

This group has
responsibility for
making sure all

policies and
procedures are

relevant, accurate,
in place, up to date,

and regularly
reviewed. 

This group monitors 
the performance of 
the partnership in 
all safeguarding 

matters. It analyses 
the quality of the 

work through 
thematic audit 
activity. It also 

interrogates the 
information 

received on data 
performance.

This group 
evaluates the 

e�ectiveness of 
practice through 
multi-agency and 

single agency case 
reviews and 

ensures that the 
lessons learnt are 
communicated to 
the partnership. It 
also manages the 

Serious Case 
Review (SCR) 

process.

Page 58

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 5

Appendix 2
This year’s activity under the Learning & Improvement Framework (LIF)

National 
Research 
Practice

Service User
Feedback,

Complaints
and

Compliments

Single
Agency &

Multi‑Agency
Training

LSCB Dataset

Auditing
Activity

Frontline
Intelligence

Reviews

Evaluate
Learning

Learning 
Improvement 

Cycle

• Revision and launch of new Level of Need
• Website investment and launch (May 17)
• Introduction of a LSCB twitter account
• Staff polls utilised

• Young Advisors – Review Child 
    Protection Service (analysis from
    young person’s perspective)
• 3 multi‑agency reflective reviews
• Independent Review of 
   CP Re‑Plan rates
• 1 Serious Case Review initiated

• LSCB Member appraisals (site based visits)
• Training Needs Analysis completed
• Bi‑Monthly Newsletters published
• 7 minute briefings on a variety of 
    safeguarding children topics (10 issued)

• 2 multi‑agency audits (Safeguarding 
    Disabled Children & Child Criminal 
    Exploitation)
• Section 11 Audit (including purchase of 
    virtual college audit tool
• Section 175/157 Audit – achieved 98% 
    return rate.

Introduction of a comparative Pan 
Merseyside LSCB Top 20 Dataset (for trial)

• Domestic Abuse
    Conference (July 17)
• 1864 individuals
    trained (from 70 
    training events
    offered)

• Toxic Trio
• Newsletter – Government   
   Publications/ Consultations
• Domestic Abuse Conference
• Research in Practice Publications

Kirkpatrick model embedded

Page 59

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 6

Appendix 3 

Child Criminal Exploitation was chosen as the theme for the Quarter 1 (2017‑2018) LSCB multi‑ agency audit. This theme was 
chosen by the Performance and Quality Assurance Sub Group of the LSCB as a result of local intelligence that child criminal 
exploitation (CE) is a growing local concern in Sefton. Through CARMAC (Children at Risk Multi Agency Conference) a number of 
children being criminally exploited have been identified and discussed by the partnership2.

The safeguarding risks posed by serious and organised crime and criminal exploitation are a concern for Sefton. Organised 
crime culture has become a persistent problem recently and is a major issue for all agencies working to safeguard children. 
National research is beginning to highlight the coercion and exploitation affecting children and young people who become 
involved with gangs. “It’s hard to imagine the fear and hurt of a child coerced into a gang and subject to abuse and 
exploitation. We know that children and young people find it hard to reach out for help from such a dark place”. (Catch 22, 
Running the Risks, July 2015)

Risk of criminal exploitation had only successfully been reduced in 1 of the 8 cases audited at the time of reporting. In this case, 
the child had been successfully rehabilitated home from care and was living in the family home. Early Help and one practitioner 
in particular who had a well established working relationship with the family had worked successfully with the young persons 
college to engage the young person in an education offer, away from the area with negative associations. This case exhibited 
all the attributes that research informs us is imperative to successful outcomes: One lead professional co‑ordinating the plan A 
professional who had an established relationship with the young person Non time‑limited intervention Engagement with young 
person to build on their strengths and interests and increase self esteem, mental health and well being which was innovative 
A quality education offer which was essential in offering the young person a meaningful alternative away from the area of 
negative associations and potential criminal exploitation

Children and young people in Sefton would benefit from an enhanced understanding across the partnership of ‘push and 
pull’, cumulative risk of harm factors which make children susceptible to criminal exploitation. Adverse childhood experiences 
and behavioural indicators such as: ADHD, missing episodes, mental health issues, living in households of domestic abuse, 
interfamilial criminal activity, significant bereavement, living in households of neglect, significant attachment issues with 
parents, parental separation, parental substance misuse. Sadly these were all features of the children’s lives who were 
selected for audit because of known risk of CE. These factors were particularly pertinent for some children living within certain 
geographical areas in Sefton where established organised crime are operating.

This learning should be shared with all practitioners working with children. It should be used in team meetings and can be 
referenced in case discussions as part of supervision. The full report is available from the LSCB which contains much more in 
depth findings to reflect upon. All services should be aware of the Children at Risk of Criminal Exploitation multi agency working 
protocol and ensure front line staff know what to do if they suspect CE or that a child is at risk of CE.

There was significant evidence found that multiagency plans did not sufficiently address all risks and or promote strengths. 
Young people were not adequately involved in the planning process. Research from CSE “increasingly suggests that strengths‑
based approaches are desired by young people” (Smearton, 2013) and is necessary to counter an undue focus on risk, deficit 
and past experience (Brown 2006, Taylor 2002, Pearce 2002). Safeguarding services have too often been characterised by a 
focus on victimhood; a tendency to focus on risks as opposed to resilience factors and a lack of opportunity for young people to 
demonstrate their own agency (Brown, 2006).

Further sources of information on child criminal exploitation and recommended reading: Young Person Centred Approaches in 
CSE, Research in Practice, 2017 Running the Risks, Catch 22, 2015 Ending Gang and Exploitation, HM Government, 2016 Mental 
Health Needs of Gang Affiliated Yung People, Public Health England, 2016

Background

Why does it matter

Findings cont’d

Findings

What should you do next?

Findings cont’d

Further information

Learning from Audit Child Criminal Exploitation

Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 
(Date July 2017) No 12
www.seftonlscb.co.uk

Page 60

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 7

Appendix 4

Intellectual or mental health disability are amongst the most stigmatised and marginalised. Disabled children are significantly 
more at risk because of stigma, negative traditional beliefs and ignorance. (NSPCC 2014) This briefing is about Safeguarding 
Disabled Children: children with physical disabilities eg. complex medical needs, hearing/visual impairment; moderate/severe/
profound learning difficulties, autistic spectrum disorders; children with psychological & emotional difficulties. Disabled children 
have an equal right to protection from abuse (NSPCC 2014)

Professionals often miss or underreact to abuse/neglect of disabled children. There are a number of reasons for this, for 
example: Specialist equipment (can mark children and mask inflicted injuries) Children with challenging behaviours, (may mark 
themselves or be marked as part of restraint which can mask inflicted injuries) Professionals identifying with parents (seeing 
parents as saints)

Make children aware of abuse, and how to keep themselves safe and able to alert protective adults around them. This may 
mean giving them symbols/language to report abuse. If you are working with a disabled child, ensure that you know: The 
child’s preferred method of communication. Who can help the child to communicate. Where might be a safe space to talk for 
the child. Speak to all involved to gain the full picture. Know where to get help and seek support.

The children’s vulnerability and communication difficulties may attract people with a wish to harm children Parents of disabled 
children are dealing with a great deal more than parents of non‑disabled children and may be more vulnerable Disabled children 
are underrepresented in safeguarding work, yet adult survivor studies suggest that they are more likely to have been harmed 
during their childhoods.

Develop resilience and keep going! Maintain Professional Curiosity in your work with Disabled children – ask that difficult 
question & record. Pass it on. Get supervision to help you to keep things in perspective and ensure that your decisions are safe. 
It is important to ‘Spot the Signs’. Remember, the child may not have a voice for themselves.

Disabled children are children in need, even when parenting is not compromised, but are particularly vulnerable to abuse and 
neglect. Being disabled is not a high risk indicator, but it is an indicator of vulnerability, so extra care is needed. Some risks, 
such as needing multiple carers, can multiply the situations of risk. Children who have trouble generalising learning may also be 
much more vulnerable to abuse such as CSE, radicalisation and online risks.

Are you using the most appropriate skills to communicate with disabled children? Are you clear about the added vulnerabilities 
of disabled children? Are you over‑empathising with parents and losing the focus on the child? Are the wishes and views of the 
child known? Would you accept this for a non‑disabled child? What evidence supports the work? For further information on 
Disabled Children access Sefton Council website

Background

Why does it matter

What to do

Why does it matter ‑ continued

What to do ‑ continued

Information

Questions

Learning from Audit ‑ Safeguarding Disabled Children

Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 
(Date July 2017) No 12
www.seftonlscb.co.uk

Page 61

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 8
Page 62

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  4 9
Page 63

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 0
Page 64

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 1
Page 65

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 2
Page 66

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 3
Page 67

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 4
Page 68

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 5
Page 69

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 6
Page 70

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 7
Page 71

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 8
Page 72

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  5 9
Page 73

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  6 0
Page 74

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  6 1
Page 75

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  6 2
Page 76

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18

P A G E  6 3
Page 77

Agenda Item 4



SEFTON

L
ocal Safeguarding Child

re
n 

B
oa

rd

Page 78

Agenda Item 4



LSCB 2017/18 
Annual Report 

Easy Read 
Page 79

Agenda Item 4



Contents
p 3 - Sefton LSCB and the Annual Report 
 
p 4 - The Make Up of Sefton 
 
p 5 - The Heath and Wellbeing of Young People 
 
p 6 - The Current Priorities  
 
p 11 - Next Years Priorities 

Page 80

Agenda Item 4



Sefton LSCB and the 
Annual Report

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is a group of senior
leaders from a range of organisations that work together to oversee plans

and arrangements to protect and keep children and young people safe
across Sefton. 

 
This report looks at the period between April 2017 and March 2018 how

groups that are responsible for children, such as the council, schools and
charities look after them.  

This report also looks at how these groups have improved and try to
improve the lives of children and young people in Sefton. 

 
This report outlines both the good and bad that is happening on the

subject of keeping children and young people safe in Sefton. This report
is an easy read version of a much more in depth one which can be found

on the Sefton LSCB website. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 4



The Make Up of Sefton 
In 2017 there were 57,456 children and young people aged  

0-17. Of these, 49% were girls and 51% were boys.

21% 
are living in  
low-income

families

7% 
have special
educational

needs or
disabilities

4% 
Black & Asian
minority group
ethnic heritage

1.2% 
of children are
'looked after'

during the
year

0.7% 
of children have
been 'missing'

during the  
year

Page 82

Agenda Item 4



Health and Wellbeing of 
Young People in Sefton
Despite the health and wellbeing of young people in Sefton remaining
below the average across England, improvements have been made.  
The LSCB and its partners know that public health campaigns can help
improve child health.  In the last year partners have: 

Improved how services who help children and families in trying to
achieve a healthy weight are given support and resources to do
this. 
Identified barriers against immunisation with looked after children,
young people and carers and actively promoting immunisations to
these groups. 
Relaunched breastfeeding peer support. Positively, are now
working towards UNICEF Baby Friendly accreditation. 
Commissioned a children and families substance misuse service,
focused on a family approach to early prevention and changing
behaviour. 
Agreed to support a national campaign encouraging dental
practices to see young children for checks and advice before the
age of 2. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 4



The Current Priorities

Early Help is about getting help to families, as early as possible, to
prevent issues becoming more serious. Since the last report, there
has been an increase in families receiving Early Help.  
If families don't engage, the support offered may be ended.
Positively, There has also been a decrease in the support ending
due to non-engagement with families, as seen below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Moving forward, due to a restructure, Early Help will be managed
under the Local Authority. However, the LSCB will still seek
assurances of its continuing progress. 

Ensure Early Help Service are Effective. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

2016/17 2017/18

Percentage of Families not engaging leading to Early Help stopping.

26%
17%

Page 84

Agenda Item 4



The Current Priorities
Ensure Neglected Children are Identified and
Kept Safe. 
Sefton has a Neglect Strategy which is led by the Local Authority
supported by a partnership of agencies. The LSCB has also
implemented a Neglect toolkit which over 50 schools are trained in
using.  
An area that has been highlighted to improve upon was training related
to the 'Toxic Trio' and how it can impact on parenting as well as the
impact on the children themselves. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It's been recognised that neglect is the most common form of child
abuse. Through consultation, a guidance document was created to
support neglect identification which highlights the indicators of neglect
to improve identification of abuse.  
 

Domestic 
Abuse

Substance 
MisuseMental 

Ill-health

The 'Toxic Trio'

Page 85

Agenda Item 4



The Current Priorities

Prioritise vulnerable groups, protecting
children and managing the risks. 

Sefton LSCB has been involved in a number of different discussions
regarding protecting young people and helping to reduce and manage
the risk that they face. 
 

Over the last 6 months Sefton have led on a piece of work across
Merseyside to protect children from sexual exploitation, including those
who have been criminally exploited by Organised Crime Groups. 
 

Discussions on key issues relating to teenage sexual health led to: 
 The development of Relationships and Sex Education within

schools.  
 
Work with the Sexual Health Service to better understand the gaps
around second unintended pregnancies. 
 
Improved the level of data in different areas across Sefton and
gave a better understanding of the effects of inequality in particular
inequality in education and how this impacts on teenage
pregnancy. 

Page 86

Agenda Item 4



The Current Priorities

Prioritise vulnerable groups, protecting
children and managing the risks. 
A new 0-19 service was launched and divided into three areas,
preschool, school age and emotional health and wellbeing,
with a focus being on early intervention.  

The service for school age children is offered when a child has
been referred due to emotional or behavioural difficulties and  are
not in school, college or training. This could be due to  
home-schooling such as in the Traveller community , or due to
having additional needs. 

The preschool stage offers a visiting schedule for teenage mothers
or those over 19 who have a known vulnerability.  
The visiting schedule is different depending on each person's
individual needs but usually includes:  

The emotional health and wellbeing area within the 0-19 service is
offered to young people and families to provide emotional, mental
health and behaviour advice, support and intervention. The key
features of the service are early identification, assessment and
intervention.   

Some visits during pregnancy
More frequent visits in the first few weeks after birth
Visits becoming less frequent when the child is up to 2 years
old. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 4



The Current Priorities

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)/ Missing
Children will continue as a priority  
Sefton's Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is an information
sharing service between agencies when there is a concern with a child.
This service prevents at risk children from being missed out and
ensures the right services are able to help them at the right time. 
 
Since the last report MASH received 107 CSE (Child Sexual
Exploitation) referrals with 47% involving technology such as via
Facebook or other apps. 
 
 
 
 
 
Catch 22 have continued to be commissioned to work with victims of
CSE on a 1 to 1 basis to reduce risk to help the recovery and to help
prevent it from happening again. 
 
In partnership with the LSCB: 
 

4,495 children have
received a CSE awareness

course 

2,276 professionals have
been trained to spot the
signs of CSE and how to

report it.Page 88

Agenda Item 4



Next Years Priorities

The priorities of the LSCB are changing due to a restructure. The
changes allow the board to concentrate on improving outcomes for
children and that the voice of the child is actively heard by all the
agencies that report to the board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The priorities moving forward this year are:

Making sure that the partnership has a focus on the impact of
their work and its outcomes. 
 
Show that the voice of the child and community has been
responded to and what effect this is having around keeping
children and young people safe 
 
Continue to support staff and their development through training
and  reviews. 

2019

Page 89

Agenda Item 4



Listening to children and young people

Having a family
approach

Promoting partnership
working, joint

commissioning and
investing in children and
young people's futures

The LSCB are committed to partnership
working to get the best outcomes for

children and young people.  
 

All of the work completed is made possible
through using an agreed set of approaches.

Page 90

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board 
 

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 12 
December 2018 

Subject: Children’s Social Care Annual Report and Review of 
Improvement Plan  

Report of: Director of Social 
Care and Health 
 

Wards Affected: All wards 

Portfolio: John Joseph Kelly, Cabinet Member, Children, Schools and 
Safeguarding 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 
 

 
Summary: 
In April 2016, an Inspection took place of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers, the report was published in July 2016.  
The inspection concluded that children’s services in Sefton require improvement to be 
good and made 11 recommendations. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 

1) To note the objectives identified in the Plan. 
 
2) To note that updates will be brought to this Board in the future. 

 
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
The health and Wellbeing board have an important role in supporting the services to 
improve. 
 
 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
none 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
In respect of Priority 3 -  ensuring frontline services are sufficiently resourced, the Head 
of Children’s Social Care has been allowed to over-recruit by up to 10 additional Social 
Workers from 2018/19, to allow greater flexibility in covering staff turnover and skills 
requirements. This will be met from the general turnover of social workers across the 
Service and allow for any staff shortages to be covered quickly. 
 
(B) Capital Costs  
N/A 

Page 91

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
 

Equality Implications: 
There are no equality implications 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
Children’s Social Care have a statutory duty to protect the most vulnerable. 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
Children’s social care work with children and their families to improve outcomes for 
children 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
Children’s social care work in partnership with a range of organisations to ensure 
vulnerable children are safeguarded. 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
The scrutiny of Children’s social care performance supports the aspiration for all 
services to children to be good or better. 

Drivers of change and reform: 
There has been significant focus on driving up standards of practice and linking and 
aligning resources with the framework for change 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
Improving outcomes for our most vulnerable children will support them to have 
aspirations and obtain economic independence. 

Greater income for social investment:  
- 

Cleaner Greener 
- 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5470/18) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD.4595/18) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
Immediately following the Committee. 
 

Page 92

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Contact Officer: Vicky Buchanan 

Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3128 

Email Address: vicky.buchanan@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
 
Children’s Social Care Annual Report 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 

 
1 Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 In April 2016 an Inspection took place of services for children in need of help and 

protection, children looked after and care leavers, the report was published in July 2016.  
The inspection concluded that children’s services in Sefton require improvement to be 
good and made 11 recommendations.  

 
1.2 An improvement plan was developed and submitted to DfE and Ofsted in October 2016. 

The improvement plan was reviewed and refreshed in September 2017. The Plan 
identified 3 key objectives: 

1. Ensure frontline practice is consistently good, effective and focussed on 
timely, measurable outcomes for children. 

2. To improve management oversight at all levels to ensure services for children 
and young people receive good quality supervision.  

3. Ensure that frontline services are sufficiently resourced and the workforce 
appropriately skilled to enable high quality work to be undertaken with children 
and young people.  

 
1.3 Robust governance arrangements remain in place as detailed below and a performance 

scorecard tracks progress on all actions detailed in the Improvement Plan. 
 

 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWBB) 

(Children's Trust) 

Local Safeguarding Children's 
Board 

(LSCB) 

Corporate Parenting Board 

Children and Young People's 
Continous Improvement Board 

(CYPCIB) 

Cabinet Overview 
and Scrutiny 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5



 

 

1.4 The Children’s Social Care Improvement plan is in the process of being reviewed and 
refreshed, the updated plan will incorporate learning from Children’s social care and multi 
– agency audits, the LSCB independent review of Child Protection re-plans, the LGA 
Care Practice diagnostic which took place in April 2018 and individual agency learning 
from Serious Case Reviews and Practice reviews.  

 
1.5 It should be noted that there are a range of service annual reports including, Adoption, 

Fostering, Private Fostering, MASH and the Safeguarding Unit.  
 
 
 
2 Strategic Priority 1 - Ensure frontline practice is consistently good, effective and 

focussed on timely, measurable outcomes for children Assessment and Planning  
 
2.1 What the data tells us  
 
2.1.1 There has been a slight decrease in the rate of referrals (517 – 513.9 per 10000).  
 

 
2.1.2 Re-referral rates have also decreased to 17.1 (21.6 – 17.1 per 10000), this is an indicator 

that the initial intervention did result in sustained improvement reducing the requirement 
for re-referral.  

 
2.1.3 Assessment timeliness remains a strong focus, 76.4% of assessments were completed 

within 45 days this is a marginal increase on 2016/17 (+4%) and this needs to improve. 
The number of assessments completed did drop by 13.2% (3248 in 2016/17 to 2819 in 
2017/18).  

455

460

465

470

475

480

485

490

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Number of Referrals Per 10000 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Referral Rate Per 10000 

Page 94

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 
 
2.1.4 The number of children subject to child protection plans has remained stable, with a 1% 

increase from 2016/17, however there has been an increase in the number of children 
subject to repeat child protection plans indicating that the plan did not result in sustained 
change for the child and family. The Local Safeguarding Children’s Board have focussed 
on this issue and an independent review was undertaken to look at this issue. As a result 
of this a multi – agency action plan is now in place to address this. There is an increase 
on children subject to child protection plans as a result of neglect, (30%), this is an 
indication that the neglect strategy has had an impact and neglect is being recognised.  

 
2.1.5 Timeliness of reports to Child Protection conferences is a concern and will be a key 

priority for 2018/19. The practice standard states that reports should be available 3 days 
prior to conference, this allows reports to be shared with families, only 28.5% of reports 
were available 3 days before and this will be included in performance monitoring and 
refresh of the improvement plan.  

 
2.1.6 Children seen within 5 days and 10 days of referral needs to improve, with only 46% of 

children being recorded as seen within 10 days of referral, this will be a focus of 
performance meetings. There has been an increased focus on assessments that are 
concluded as No Further Action and there has been an overall reduction of 7.5%, 
compared to last year.  

 
2.1.7 There has been an increase in the number of children Looked After by approximately 4% 

to 486 children on 31st March 2018, despite this challenge placement stability has 
improved slightly with 10% of children experiencing 3 or more placement moves, this 
tends to be older children who have complex issues including CSE and Missing. 
Positively the number of children placed at home on full care orders has reduced by 3% 
and this continues to be an area of focus.  

 
2.1.8 There continues to be challenges in relation to placement sufficiency for Looked after 

children and this is a national issue. We are working hard with colleagues in 
commissioning to work with the local provider market to ensure when safe and 
appropriate Sefton children remain in Sefton. We are looking at how we can enhance our 
offer to inhouse foster carers so that they are able to care for some of our older and more 
complex young people. 

 
2.1.9 There has been a focus on Initial Health Assessments for looked After Children in 

partnership with CCG and provider colleagues, this has led to an increase of 18.6% of 
IHA’s completed, this will remain a focus for the coming 12 months in relation to all health 
checks.  

 

66

68

70

72

74

76

78

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Assessment Timeliness 

Page 95

Agenda Item 5



 

 

2.1.10 There has been an increase in the number of children adopted during the year to 13 
children, with a further 15 children placed for adoption, this improvement in performance 
was acknowledged in a letter form the minister.  

 
2.1.11 We have developed and published our local offer for care leavers. 91.2% of our care 

leavers are living in suitable accommodation which is comparable to last year’s figure of 
92.7%, (custody is not deemed as suitable accommodation), positively there have been 
no care leavers in emergency accommodation e.g.  bed and breakfast, and 9% increase 
in care leavers who are in Education, Employment or training.  

 
2.1.12 During 2017/18 Young Advisors were asked to undertake a piece of work to understand 

the experience of children and families in the Child in Need and Child Protection Service. 
The findings from their report have been taken forward and an action plan developed. 
Ensuring we capture the voice of children and their lived experience remains a key 
priority.  

 
2.1.13 The LSCB commissioned an independent review of children subject to second or 

subsequent child protection plans, the review made a number of recommendations which 
children’s Social care are addressing alongside the LSCB partnership. One Serious Case 
Review was started during the year and the findings of this  this is due to be reported to 
the LSCB in July 2018.  A common theme from audit and review is the sense of over 
optimism in some cases which can then then lead to drift and delay in care planning for 
children. A review is being undertaken of our current Signs of Safety approach which is a 
strengths based model, to look at what other tools and models are needed to support 
practice and effective decision making across the whole partnership.  

 
3 Strategic Priority 2 - To improve management oversight at all levels to ensure 

effective services for children and young people and that frontline staff receive 
good quality supervision. 

 
3.1 An audit of supervision was undertaken in September 2017. A further audit will be 

undertaken in July 18. 
 
3.2 What the data tells us  
 
3.2.1 In the supervision audit, 75% of the supervision records audited did not meet good 

overall, this had increased from 50% in the previous audit. No cases were judged to 
exceed good although in one case the auditor noted that the supervision would have 
exceeded good if had occurred more frequently. Areas that were highlighted for 
improvement in the previous audit had demonstrably improved in most areas.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 

 
3.2.2 Frontline managers are currently reviewing the supervision policy and templates for 

recording supervision to ensure that they are helpful to them and support them in 
evidencing reflective supervision. What is clear when talking to frontline practitioners is 
that formal and informal supervision takes place regularly but is not always well recorded 
and reflective discussions captured.  

 
3.2.3 There continues to be a focus on leadership and management across the organisation. 

Practice and Performance Workshops are held quarterly led by the Head of Service, and 
all frontline staff are invited to attend, these workshops provide opportunities to share 
learning from audits including multi – agency audits, share good practice and ensure that 
social workers are afforded an opportunity to influence the development of plans to 
improve practice.  

 
3.2.4 Performance meetings are held monthly with Team Managers to ensure that we 

continually scrutinise data and translate this into what it means for children and families.  
 
3.2.5 There is robust scrutiny and challenge at all levels in the organisation as detailed in the 

governance structure above.  
 
4 Strategic Priority 3 - Ensure that frontline services are sufficiently resourced and 

the workforce appropriately skilled to enable high quality work to be undertaken 
with children and young people. 

 
4.1 In October 2017 Children’s Social care restructured its services. The aim of the 

restructure was to address the following, 
 

 Children experience too many changes of social workers at important transition 

points. 

 Caseloads are too high in some areas, (assessment, Corporate Parenting and IRO’s) 

 Management Oversight and supervision needs to improve.  

 
4.2 There has been a dip in performance since the restructure as new approaches ‘bed – in’. 

Locality Social Work teams now have a wider remit, whilst over time this will be positive 
for children as they should not experience changes of social workers at key decision 
points, it does mean that team managers and social workers are undertaking areas of 
practice that they have not necessarily undertaken before. We are working closely with 
team managers to support them in the development of their teams.  

 
4.3 The new structure also supports clear lines of accountability within teams and support to 

develop frontline managers is in place. There has been mandatory training for frontline 
managers and quarterly development meetings. We believe that investing in the 
development of our frontline managers is key to raising practice standards. The new 
structure should help to create the culture and environment for continued improvement.  

 
4.4 As we have recruited to vacancies and increased numbers in social work teams there has 

been an increase in the number of newly qualified social workers in their Assessed and 
Supported year in Employment, (approximately 20 social workers). This is positive in 
many ways as we are growing our future workforce however it does mean there are 
increased challenges as they should have protected caseloads, increased supervision 
and support to develop which puts an extra burden on team managers. We have secured 
some resource to provide additional support to this cohort of staff to ensure they meet the 
requirements of the programme and relieve some of the burden for Team Managers.  

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5



 

 

4.5 We have increased our support to Care leavers as part of the restructure, creating a team 
that provides this service and increasing the number of personal advisors. This should 
help us to meet the requirements of the Children and social work act 2017 with support to 
care leavers up to the age of 25.  

 
5 Summary and Conclusions 
 
5.1 Raising Practice standards and improving the consistency of core practice remains a 

priority focus. Standards of recording have improved which do demonstrate through audit 
that there is a tangible outcome on children’s lives. We must now ensure that there is 
momentum and change gathers pace moving forward.  

 
5.2 Management oversight and supervision must strengthen further to have an impact on 

quality of practice.  
 
5.3 Recommendations from audits, serious case reviews, the Local Government Association 

Peer Review Care practice Diagnostic and independent review of children subject to 
repeat child protection plans will be incorporated into a reviewed and refreshed 
improvement plan for the service to ensure we continue to drive improvements in practice 
and improve the lived experiences of our most vulnerable children.  

 

 

Page 98

Agenda Item 5



 

Ofsted 
Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 
Manchester 

M1 2WD 

T  0300 123 1231 
Textphone  0161 618 8524 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

www.gov.uk/ofsted  
 

 

 

 
22 October 2018 
 
Mr Dwayne Johnson 
Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 
Bootle Town Hall 
Oriel Road 
Bootle 
L20 7AE 
 
 
Dear Dwayne, 
 
Focused visit to Sefton local authority children’s services 
 
This letter summarises the findings of a focused visit to Sefton local authority 
children’s services on 27 and 28 September 2018. The inspectors were Stella Elliott 
and Pauline Higham, Her Majesty’s Inspectors. 
 
Inspectors looked at the local authority’s arrangements for children in need and 
children subject to a plan, with a specific focus on services and practice for children 
who may be on the edge of care. 
 
Inspectors looked at a range of evidence, including case discussions with social 
workers, meetings with independent reviewing officers (IROs), service managers 
and managers of the missing from care service. They also looked at local authority 
performance management and quality assurance information, children’s case records 
and staff supervision records.  
 
Overview 
 
Sefton local authority children’s services were last inspected by Ofsted in April/May 
2016, when the local authority was judged as requiring improvement to be good in 
all areas. Since then, a service restructure in Autumn 2017, including changes at 
senior management level, has contributed to the implementation of the current 
action plan to improve services for children and their families. 
 
Since the last inspection, children in need of help and protection now generally 
benefit from better assessments that identify risk and inform the provision of 
appropriate intervention to keep children safe. Decision-making is usually timely and 
proportionate. Recent improvements in partner agency collaboration and ownership 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5

file:///D:/CACI/LIVE/OBDATA/G1/P1/L1/OB_LIVE/_PH_/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///D:/CACI/LIVE/OBDATA/G1/P1/L1/OB_LIVE/_PH_/www.gov.uk/ofsted


 

 
 

 

of concerns have resulted in better focused help that supports families when they 
are experiencing difficulties in caring for their children. 
 
The risks posed by child sexual exploitation and criminal exploitation are well 
recognised by the local authority. The multi-agency work that is being completed 
pan-Merseyside ensures that current and potential risks to children are swiftly 
recognised, with appropriate intelligence-sharing contributing to the protection of 
vulnerable children.  
 
When children are stepped down from a child protection plan, this has not always 
been informed by a re-assessment that takes full account of all risk and protective 
factors. 
 
Fewer numbers of children who are on care orders are placed at home with parents 
than at the time of the most recent inspection. This has been achieved because of 
the improved quality of reassessments enabling the court to agree to the discharge 
of the care order. 
 
High caseloads for some social workers, including newly qualified workers, mean 
that the quality of practice is inconsistent. 
 
 What needs to improve in this area of social work practice 

 
 Manageable caseloads in the locality teams, improvements in recording of line 

management oversight and the quality of supervision.  
 

 Updating children’s assessments when their circumstances change to improve 
planning for all children. 
 

 The processes used to escalate cases to proceedings to minimise drift and 
delay, including the clarity of pre-proceedings letters. 
 

 Audit activity that informs workers’ and managers’ development and promotes 
consistent and high-quality practice for all children. 
 

 Sufficiency of support and proactive services for those children identified as 
being on the edge of care. 
 

 
Findings 
 

 Purposeful, direct work is being carried out to ensure that the child’s views 
and feelings are well understood. Social workers know the children in their 
care very well, and children are being seen regularly. Inspectors saw that, in 
the children’s interest, workers challenge partners and managers strongly. 
The impact of high caseloads diminishes the social workers’ abilities to 
maintain consistently high-quality practice. 

Page 100

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

 

 
 While some assessments fully evaluate a child’s needs with careful analysis of 

risk, protective factors, the child’s voice and the family history, others lack 
reflection and detail, and are not regularly updated. Accepting parents’ views 
was too prevalent in some assessments and in a small number of records 
social workers and partners were over-optimistic about parental capacity to 
change. This means that assessments are not capturing an accurate picture 
of the child’s situation. The lack of management oversight and the poor-
quality supervision in some teams compound these inconsistencies in 
practice. 
 

 Thresholds are applied appropriately and are understood by partners, which 
enables the right support and intervention to be provided for children in need 
of help or protection. The development of multi-agency collaboration is a 
significant factor in ensuring that decision-making is mostly swift and 
effective. The current, slightly increasing numbers of children on a child 
protection plan and children becoming looked after are a positive 
consequence of the local authority and partners increasing their focus on the 
impact of neglect, substance misuse and domestic violence on children in this 
local authority. Attendance by some partners at core groups and child 
protection conferences remains a concern for the local authority and the 
LSCB, which recognise that the poor attendance of some partners means that 
meetings are not quorate, which impacts at times on timely decision-making 
for children. 
 

 When children’s experiences indicate that they may be at the edge of care, 
seven-day targeted services support some families in crisis, as well as through 
the provision of parenting courses. This assists families’ understanding of 
effective behaviour management and improves their capacity to parent their 
own children. While crisis intervention and some targeted interventions such 
as the Community Adolescent Service are available, when situations escalate, 
families do not have the benefit of a wide range of proactive models of 
practice. For example, family group conferencing may contribute to children 
being better supported to live in their families and communities. 
 

 The majority of children’s child protection and care plans are strongly 
evaluated and progressed by IROs. The consistency of oversight of children’s 
plans, provided by a well-established IRO team, means that children’s wishes 
and feelings do not get lost. The impact and effectiveness of the practice-
alerts seen on children’s records, however, are not always met with a robust 
and immediate response from social workers. This is a missed opportunity to 
make use of the IROs’ experience and independence, and to improve 
outcomes for children.  
 

 When home situations for children in need or children who are subject to a 
child protection plan do not improve, the processes to escalate to proceedings 
are not smooth. The introduction of a legal tracker, overseen by a newly 

Page 101

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

 

appointed court liaison officer, is just beginning to embed. Letters to families 
in pre-proceedings are unclear. The current schedule of expectations does not 
spell out what families need to do in order to improve the care of their 
children and in what timescale.  

 
 The multi-agency response to the needs and experiences of children is now 

effectively overseen by the LCSB. Challenge to partner agencies has been 
focused and is underpinned by close scrutiny of performance. Learning from 
audit activity and serious case reviews is increasingly disseminated well in a 
variety of formats. The introduction of seven-minute briefings is valued by 
social workers and helps to inform their current practice, assisting them to 
promote positive change in children’s lives. 
 

 The risks to increasingly younger children posed by criminal and child sexual 
exploitation is well understood by the local authority. The introduction of a 
missing from home/care team has helped to ensure that liaison with partners 
captures relevant intelligence, as well as identifying potential and emerging 
risks. Decisive action is effectively coordinated to mitigate and lessen the 
impact on children. 

 
 The number of children on care orders placed at home with their parents has 

been reduced effectively over the past year. Care orders have been 
discharged as a result of the court’s growing confidence in the quality of 
support plans and reports. The impact of this reduction is that some teams in 
the local authority have increased capacity to concentrate on the quality and 
improvement of their practice, and improvements in children receiving health 
and dental reviews. 
 

 Recent audit activity has been intermittent, and the use of audit tools has 
been inconsistent. Although most audits highlight relevant issues in relation to 
social work practice, it is not clear how or when case holders and managers 
are given feedback in order to ensure that the impact of audits is supporting 
improvements to practice. 
 

 The local authority’s accurate self-assessment demonstrates that it knows its 
areas of strength and areas for development. Specifically, they know that 
high caseloads in several locality teams, and limited management capacity 
and oversight, impact on the consistency and quality of social work practice. 
Although plans to address these shortfalls are assisted by the recent approval 
of funds for additional social work capacity, the challenge remains for the 
recruitment and retention of sufficient social workers to progress plans for 
further improvement. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 102

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

 

 
Ofsted will take the findings from this focused visit into account when 
planning your next inspection or visit. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Stella Elliott 
Her Majesty’s Inspector 

 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board 
 

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 12 
December 2018 

Subject: Better Care Fund - Quarter 2 return 
 

Report of: Director of Social 
Care and Health 

Wards Affected: All wards 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member, Adult Social Care 
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No 
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 

 
Summary: 
 
To provide the Board with an update on NHS BCF and the improved Better Care Fund 
Quarter 2 return. 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 

1) To remind the Board about the Better Care Fund (BCF) NHS England 
Quarterly return process. 

2) To advise the Board on the BCF Quarter 2 submission and retrospectively 
seek that the submission is signed off by the Board. 

 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
The conditions of the grant are that we submit quarter returns and that these returns are 
reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
none 
 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
 The additional improved Better Care Fund grant allocation for 2018/19 is £4.352m 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
 n/a 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
All expenditure in 2018/19 was funded from within planned BCF resources 

Legal Implications: 
None 

Equality Implications: 
There are no equality implications 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
The allocation of the Grant targets the statutory duties of the Council 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
 

Drivers of change and reform: 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
 

Greater income for social investment:  
 

Cleaner Greener 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5467/18) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD.4592/18) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
There has been agreement with the two Clinical Commissioning Groups for Sefton on 
the submission and the use of the funds. 
 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
Immediately following the Committee. 
 

Contact Officer: Sharon Lomax 

Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4900 

Email Address: sharon.lomax@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
None 

Page 106

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Background Papers: 
BCF Q2 return 
1.  Introduction – The Better Care Fund NHS England Quarterly Return 

Process 
 
1.1  The Board will recall that a report detailed the return process and the sign off 

criteria for the Better Care Fund.  
 
1.2  The local governance mechanism for the BCF is the Health and Wellbeing 

Board, which should sign off the report or make appropriate arrangements to 
delegate this as such this is delegated to the Director, of Adult Social Care. 

 
1.3  As the Board meets quarterly it is unlikely that the issuing of the template by 

NHS England, the window of collection and return and Board sign off will align. 
Where ever possible Lead Officer will seek to engage the Board in advance for 
signoff or will at the next Board report on the submission and seek retrospective 
sign off. 

 
2.  National Conditions and S75 Agreement 
 
2.1  The return requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to confirm whether the four 

National Conditions detailed in the Integration and Better Care Fund planning 
requirements for 2018/19 continue to be met through the delivery of the plan. 
Sefton reports positively in respect of the Four National Conditions. 

 
The Four National Conditions are 
-  A Jointly Agreed Plan 
-  NHS contribution to social care is maintained in line with inflation 
-  Agreement to invest in NHS-commissioned out-of-hospital services 
-  Implementation of the “High Impact Change Model” for Managing 

Transfers of Care 
 
3.  National Metrics 
 
3.1  The BCF plan includes the following four metrics: 

-  Non-Elective Admissions 
-  Delayed Transfers of Care 
-  Residential Admissions 
-  Reablement 

3.2  As part of the BCF plan for 18/19, planned targets have been agreed for these 
metrics. The return captures a confidence assessment on meeting these BCF 
planned targets for each of the BCF metrics. A brief commentary is required for 
each metric outlining the challenges faced in meeting the BCF targets, any 
achievements realised and an opportunity to flag any support needs the local 
system may have recognised where assistance may be required to facilitate or 
accelerate the achievement of the BCF targets. 

 
3.2  The submission details the assessment of progress on the metrics. 
 
 
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
 
4. High Impact Change Model 
 
4.1  The BCF “National Condition 4”, requires areas to implement the “High Impact 

Change Model”. The detail of this is reviewed at timely intervals at an operational 
level across the system. During the process of submission we were asked for 
clarification by the Regional BCF team to confirm our ‘maturity’ position and 
realised that an error had been made in the return, this has been amended and 
the correct version was sent and is attached. 

 
6.  Conclusion 
 
6.1  The board are asked to note that the submissions were completed and submitted 

within the respective timescales and the reports have been brought to the Health 
and Wellbeing Board at the earliest opportunity albeit that the notification is 
retrospective due to the schedule of meetings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 108

Agenda Item 7



Better Care Fund Template Q2 2018/19  

National Conditions & s75 Pooled Budget 

Health and Wellbeing Board: Sefton 

Confirmation of Nation Conditions 

National Condition Confirmation If "No" please explain  

1) Plans to be jointly agreed?  Yes  

2) Planned contribution to social care from the CCG minimum contribution is agreed in line with  
     the Planning Requirements? 

Yes  

3) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services? Yes  

4) Managing transfers of care? Yes  

5) Have the funds been pooled via a s.75 pooled budget? Yes  

 

Maturity Assessment of the “High Impact Changes” Narrative 

 Q4 
17/18 

Q1 
18/19 

Q2 
18/19 

(Current) 

Q3 
18/19 

(Planned) 

Q4 
18/19 

(Planned) 

If 'Mature' 
or 
'Exemplary
', please 
provide 
rationale  

Challenges Mileston
es met 
during 
the 
quarter / 
Observed 
impact 

Support 
needs 

Change 1 
Early discharge planning 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Established . Further 
work is 
needed to 
fully 
implement 
the ICRAS 
lane 
approach 
and 
therefore 
the 
expectation 

. . 

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 7



is to be 
established 
by Q4 
rather than 
mature. 

Change 2 
Systems to monitor 

patient flow 

Established Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Established . Further 
work is 
needed 
with 
Medworx 
at Aintree 
and the 
implement
ation of the 
new 
system at 
S&O and 
therefore it 
is more 
realistic to 
expected 
established 
at Q4 
rather than 
mature. 

. . 

Change 3 
Multi-disciplinary/agency 

discharge teams 

Established Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Established Mature . . . . 

P
age 110

A
genda Item

 7



Change 4 
Home first/discharge to 

assess 

Mature Established Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Established Sefton has 
assessed 
itself as 
mature as 
described 
in the 8 
specific 
areas as 
described 
in Change 4 

Origional 
returns did 
not 
adequately 
reflect the 
different 
level of 
maturity at 
each end of 
Sefton as 
although in 
South 
Sefton the 
assessment 
is already " 
Established
", the 
assessment 
for S&O is " 
Plans are in 
Place". 
Therefore 
overall the 
expectation 
would be 
for 
"Establishe
d" across 
the whole 
of the 
borough by 
Q4 

. . 

Change 5 Plans in Plans in Plans in Plans in Established . . . . 

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 7



Seven-day service place place place place 

Change 6 
Trusted assessors 

Established Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Established . . . . 

Change 7 
Focus on choice 

Plans in 
place 

Not yet 
established 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Established .  . . 

Change 8 
Enhancing health in care 

homes 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Plans in 
place 

Established . . . . 

Hospital Transfer Protocol (or the Red Bag scheme) 

 Q4 17/18 Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19 
(Planned) 

Q3 18/19 
(Planned) 

Q4 18/19 
(Planned) 

comments Challenges Impact Support 
needs 

Red Bag Scheme Not yet 
established 

Established Established Established Established . . . . 

 

Metrics 

Metric Definition Progress against 
the planned 
target for the 
quarter 

Challenges Achievements Support Needs 

Non-Elective 
Admissions 

Reduction in non-
elective admissions 

Not on track to 
meet target 

NHS England set an 
expectation nationally for 
CCGs to plan for growth in 
Non-Elective Admissions in 
2018/19 to the tune of 5.6% 
in admissions of zero-day 
length of stay and 0.9% for 
1+ day length of stay. 
Despite these growth asks, 
the CCGs in the Sefton 
HWBB area have planned 
for 18/19 growth as follows:  

. . 

P
age 112

A
genda Item

 7



South Sefton CCG: 5.12% 0 
day LOS, 0.82% 1+ day LOS. 
Southport & Formby CCG: 
1.4% 0 day LOS, 0.4% 1 day 
LOS.  
Indicative Q2 YTD data 
shows that Sefton HWBB 
NEA position is 25% above 
plan with 22,451 NEAs in 
the HWBB footprint 
compared to Q2 YTD plan of 
17,894. However, this is 
measured against BCF 
original 18/19 plans that 
were submitted back in 
2017, not the latest CCG 
Ops Plan submissions for 
18/19 which were made 
Apr 18. Compared to CCG 
Operational Plans, South 
Sefton and Southport and 
Formby CCG NEA activity 
are still above plan but to a 
lesser degree (14% and 18% 
respectively). The CCGs 
main providers (Aintree 
Hospital and Southport and 
Ormskirk Hospitals) have 
both implemented new 
pathways (CDU) with 
activity now flowing via SUS 
inpatient table from May 
2018. This activity 

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 7



previously hasn’t been 
recorded in this manner 
and was not fully discussed 
with commissioners prior to 
the pathway's 
implementation. The CCGs 
are querying the non-
elective changes with the 
Trusts and have conducted 
a clinical walk-through to 
establish of the details of 
the pathways.   

Residential 
Admissions 

Rate of permanent 
admissions to 
residential care per 
100,000 population 
(65+)  

Not on track to 
meet target 

. . . 

Reablement Proportion of older 
people (65 and over) 
who were still at home 
91 days after discharge 
from hospital into 
reablement / 
rehabilitation services 

Not on track to 
meet target 

. . . 

Delayed 
Transfers of 
Care 

Delayed Transfers of 
Care (delayed days) 

Not on track to 
meet target 

Following Newton Europe 
review, recommendations 
will require agreement on a 
system wide action plan. 

. . 

 

 

 

P
age 114

A
genda Item

 7



Narrative 

Progress against local plan for integration of health and social care  

The Sefton transformation board has appointed a PMO working across the system to programme the various workstreams. 
The Council are working with health providers to develop integrated teams. This programme of work is in its infancy with a 
plan to have a proof of concept team for 3 pilot sites in place within the next quarter. Work has started at pace in integrated 
delivery with Capacity and leadership in a sponsored programme. 

Please tell us 
about the progress 
made locally to the 
area’s vision and 
plan for 
integration set out 
in your BCF 
narrative plan for 
2017-19. This 
might include 
significant 
milestones met, 
any agreed 
variations to the 
plan and any 
challenges. 

Integration success story highlight over the past quarter  

 Please tell us 
about an 
integration success 
story  observed 
over the past 
quarter 
highlighting the 
nature of the 
service or scheme 
and the related 
impact. 

 

 

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 7



 

If you are unable to provide rates for both 2017/18 and 2018/19, please ensure that you provide the estimated percentage change between 2017/18 
and 2018/19 in the table below. Please leave any missing data cells as blank e.g. do not attempt to enter '0' or 'N/A'. 

     

 2017/18 2018/19 If rates not yet known, please 
provide the estimated uplift as a 
percentage change between 
2017/18 and 2018/19 

 

1. Please provide the average amount that you 
paid to external providers for home care in 
2017/18, and on the same basis, the average 
amount that you expect to pay in 2018/19.  

£13.83 £14.50   

2. Please provide the average amount that you 
paid for external provider care homes without 
nursing for clients aged 65+ in 2017/18, and on 
the same basis, the average amount that you 
expect to pay in 2018/19.  

 £475   £494    

3. Please provide the average amount that you 
paid for external provider care homes with 
nursing for clients aged 65+ in 2017/18, and on 
the same basis, the average amount that you 
expect to pay in 2018/19.  

 £479   £498    

4. If you would like to provide any additional 
commentary on the fee information provided 
please do so.  

Nursing fees do not include the FNC rates (£155.05 & 
£158.16) which although we do pay in our contracted 
rate, we claim back from the CCG. The rates are a 
weighted average of the Standard & EMI rates 

 

 

 

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 7



Better Care Fund Template Q2 2018/19 (draft)
National Conditions & s75 Pooled Budget
Health and Wellbeing Board: Sefton
Confirmation of Nation Conditions
National Condition Confirmation If "No" please explain 
1) Plans to be jointly agreed? Yes
2) Planned contribution to social care from the CCG minimum contribution is agreed in line with 
     the Planning Requirements?

Yes

3) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services? Yes
4) Managing transfers of care? Yes
5) Have the funds been pooled via a s.75 pooled budget? Yes

Maturity Assessment of the “High Impact Changes” Narrative
Q4

17/18
Q1

18/19
Q2

18/19
(Current)

Q3
18/19

(Planned)

Q4
18/19

(Planned)

If 'Mature' 
or 
'Exemplary
', please 
provide 
rationale 

Challenge
s

Milestones 
met during 
the quarter 
/ Observed 
impact

Support 
needs

Change 1
Early discharge planning

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

. . . .

Change 2
Systems to monitor 

patient flow

Established Plans in 
place

Established Established Established . . . .

Change 3
Multi-disciplinary/agency 

discharge teams

Established Plans in 
place

Established Established Established . . . .

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 7



Change 4
Home first/discharge to 

assess

Mature Established Mature Mature Mature Sefton has 
assessed 
itself as 
mature as 
described 
in the 8 
specific 
areas as 
described 
in Change 4

. . .

Change 5
Seven-day service

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

. . . .

Change 6
Trusted assessors

Established Plans in 
place

Established Established Established . . . .

Change 7
Focus on choice

Plans in 
place

Not yet 
established

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

. This work 
requires 
access to 
care 
homes of 
choice or 
access to 
a choice 
accepted 
by 
families. 
It also 
requires 
confidenc
e in the 
communi
cations to 
get to a 
position 

. .

P
age 118

A
genda Item

 7



to make a 
discharge 
the 
outcome 
in these 
circumsta
nces

Change 8
Enhancing health in care 

homes

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

Plans in 
place

. . . .

Hospital Transfer Protocol (or the Red Bag scheme)
Q4 17/18 Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19

(Planned)
Q3 18/19
(Planned)

Q4 18/19 
(Planned)

comments Challenge
s

Impact Support 
needs

Red Bag Scheme Not yet 
established

Established Established Established Established . . . .

Metrics
Metric Definition Progress against 

the planned 
target for the 
quarter

Challenges Achievements Support Needs

Non-Elective 
Admissions

Reduction in non-
elective admissions

Not on track to 
meet target

NHS England set an 
expectation nationally for 
CCGs to plan for growth in 
Non-Elective Admissions in 
2018/19 to the tune of 5.6% 
in admissions of zero-day 
length of stay and 0.9% for 
1+ day length of stay. 
Despite these growth asks, 
the CCGs in the Sefton 
HWBB area have planned 

. .

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 7



for 18/19 growth as follows: 
South Sefton CCG: 5.12% 0 
day LOS, 0.82% 1+ day LOS.
Southport & Formby CCG: 
1.4% 0 day LOS, 0.4% 1 day 
LOS. 
Indicative Q2 YTD data 
shows that Sefton HWBB 
NEA position is 25% above 
plan with 22,451 NEAs in 
the HWBB footprint 
compared to Q2 YTD plan of 
17,894. However, this is 
measured against BCF 
original 18/19 plans that 
were submitted back in 
2017, not the latest CCG 
Ops Plan submissions for 
18/19 which were made 
Apr 18. Compared to CCG 
Operational Plans, South 
Sefton and Southport and 
Formby CCG NEA activity 
are still above plan but to a 
lesser degree (14% and 18% 
respectively). The CCGs 
main providers (Aintree 
Hospital and Southport and 
Ormskirk Hospitals) have 
both implemented new 
pathways (CDU) with 
activity now flowing via SUS 
inpatient table from May 

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 7



2018. This activity 
previously hasn’t been 
recorded in this manner 
and was not fully discussed 
with commissioners prior to 
the pathway's 
implementation. The CCGs 
are querying the non-
elective changes with the 
Trusts and have conducted 
a clinical walk-through to 
establish of the details of 
the pathways.  

Residential 
Admissions

Rate of permanent 
admissions to 
residential care per 
100,000 population 
(65+) 

Not on track to 
meet target

. . .

Reablement Proportion of older 
people (65 and over) 
who were still at home 
91 days after discharge 
from hospital into 
reablement / 
rehabilitation services

Not on track to 
meet target

. . .

Delayed 
Transfers of 
Care

Delayed Transfers of 
Care (delayed days)

Not on track to 
meet target

Following Newton Europe 
review, recommendations 
will require agreement on a 
system wide action plan.

. .

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 7



Narrative
Progress against local plan for integration of health and social care
The Sefton transformation board has appointed a PMO working across the system to programme the various workstreams. 
The Council are working with health providers to develop integrated teams. This programme of work is in its infancy with a 
plan to have a proof of concept team for 3 pilot sites in place within the next quarter. Work has started at pace in integrated 
delivery with Capacity and leadership in a sponsored programme.

Please tell us 
about the progress 
made locally to the 
area’s vision and 
plan for 
integration set out 
in your BCF 
narrative plan for 
2017-19. This 
might include 
significant 
milestones met, 
any agreed 
variations to the 
plan and any 
challenges.

Integration success story highlight over the past quarter
Please tell us 
about an 
integration success 
story  observed 
over the past 
quarter 
highlighting the 
nature of the 
service or scheme 
and the related 
impact.

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 7



If you are unable to provide rates for both 2017/18 and 2018/19, please ensure that you provide the estimated percentage change between 2017/18 
and 2018/19 in the table below. Please leave any missing data cells as blank e.g. do not attempt to enter '0' or 'N/A'.

2017/1
8

2018/19 If rates not yet known, please 
provide the estimated uplift as a 
percentage change between 
2017/18 and 2018/19

1. Please provide the average amount that you 
paid to external providers for home care in 
2017/18, and on the same basis, the average 
amount that you expect to pay in 2018/19. 

£13.83 £14.50

2. Please provide the average amount that you 
paid for external provider care homes without 
nursing for clients aged 65+ in 2017/18, and on 
the same basis, the average amount that you 
expect to pay in 2018/19. 

 £475  £494 

3. Please provide the average amount that you 
paid for external provider care homes with 
nursing for clients aged 65+ in 2017/18, and on 
the same basis, the average amount that you 
expect to pay in 2018/19. 

 £479  £498 

4. If you would like to provide any additional 
commentary on the fee information provided 
please do so. 

Nursing fees do not include the FNC rates (£155.05 & 
£158.16) which although we do pay in our contracted 
rate, we claim back from the CCG. The rates are a 
weighted average of the Standard & EMI rates

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Sefton Local Safeguarding Children`s Board Annual Report 2017-18
	Enc. 1 for Sefton Local Safeguarding Children`s Board Annual Report 2017-18
	Enc. 2 for Sefton Local Safeguarding Children`s Board Annual Report 2017-18

	5 Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan
	Enc. 1 for Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan

	7 Better Care Fund - Quarter 2 Return
	Enc. 1 for Better Care Fund - Quarter 2 return
	Better Care Fund Q2 18-19


